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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

CHATHAM LODGING TRUST
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share data)
(unaudited)

         
  March 31,   December, 31 
  2011   2010  
Assets:         

Investment in hotel properties, net  $ 211,709  $ 208,080 
Cash and cash equivalents   30,916   4,768 
Restricted cash   3,411   3,018 
Hotel receivables (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of approximately $4 and $15, respectively)   1,203   891 
Deferred costs, net   4,072   4,710 
Prepaid expenses and other assets   1,181   735 

  
 
  

 
 

Total assets  $ 252,492  $ 222,202 
  

 

  

 

 

         
Liabilities and Equity:         

Debt  $ 12,252  $ 50,133 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   5,119   5,248 
Distributions payable   2,464   1,657 
  

 
  

 
 

Total liabilities   19,835   57,038 
  

 
  

 
 

         
Commitments and contingencies         
         
Equity:         

Shareholders’ Equity:         
Preferred shares, $0.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized and unissued at March 31, 2011   —   — 
Common shares, $0.01 par value, 500,000,000 shares authorized; 13,820,854 and 9,208,750 shares issued and

outstanding at March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively   138   92 
Additional paid-in capital   239,861   170,250 
Unearned compensation   (1,040)   (1,162)
Accumulated deficit   (6,878)   (4,441)
  

 
  

 
 

Total shareholders’ equity   232,081   164,739 
  

 
  

 
 

         
Noncontrolling Interests:         

Noncontrolling Interest in Operating Partnership   576   425 
         

  
 
  

 
 

Total equity   232,657   165,164 
  

 
  

 
 

Total liabilities and equity  $ 252,492  $ 222,202 
  

 

  

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CHATHAM LODGING TRUST
Consolidated Statement of Operations

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(unaudited)

     
  For the three months ended 
  March 31,  
  2011  
Revenue:     

Room  $ 12,139 
Other operating   348 

     
  

 
 

Total revenue   12,487 
  

 
 

     
Expenses:     

Hotel operating expenses:     
Room   2,994 
Other operating   4,914 

  
 
 

Total hotel operating expenses   7,908 
Depreciation and amortization   1,444 
Property taxes and insurance   1,032 
General and administrative   1,268 
Hotel property acquisition costs   85 

  
 
 

Total operating expenses   11,737 
  

 
 

Operating income   750 
Interest and other income   6 
Interest expense, including amortization of deferred fees   (773)

  
 
 

Loss before income tax expense   (17)
Income tax expense   (2)
  

 
 

Net loss attributable to common shareholders  $ (19)
  

 

 

     
Loss per Common Share — Basic:     

Net loss attributable to common shareholders (Note 11)  $ 0.00 
  

 

 

     
Loss per Common Share — Diluted:     

Net loss attributable to common shareholders (Note 11)  $ 0.00 
  

 

 

     
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:     

Basic   11,800,771 
Diluted   11,800,771 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CHATHAM LODGING TRUST
Consolidated Statements of Equity

(In thousands, except share data)
(unaduited)

                                 
                          Noncontrolling    
          Additional           Total   Interest in     
  Common Shares   Paid-In   Unearned   Accumulated   Shareholders’   Operating   Total  
  Shares   Amount   Capital   Compensation  Deficit   Equity   Partnership   Equity  
Balance, December 31, 2010   9,208,750  $ 92  $ 170,250  $ (1,162)  $ (4,441)  $ 164,739  $ 425  $ 165,164 

Issuance of shares pursuant to Equity
Incentive Plan   12,104   —   210   —   —   210   —   210 

Issuance of shares, net of offering costs
of $4,153   4,600,000   46   69,401   —   —   69,447   —   69,447 

Amortization of share based
compensation   —   —   —   122   —   122   196   318 

Dividends declared on common shares   —   —   —   —   (2,418)   (2,418)   —   (2,418)
Distributions declared on LTIP units   —   —   —   —   —   —   (45)   (45)
Net loss   —   —   —   —   (19)   (19)   —   (19)

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Balance, March 31, 2011   13,820,854  $ 138  $ 239,861  $ (1,040)  $ (6,878)  $ 232,081  $ 576  $ 232,657 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CHATHAM LODGING TRUST
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(In thousands)
(unaudited)

     
  For the three months ended 
  March 31, 2011  
Cash flows from operating activities:     

Net loss  $ (19)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:     

Depreciation   1,431 
Amortization of deferred franchise fees   13 
Amortization of deferred financing fees included in interest costs   307 
Share based compensation   243 

Changes in assets and liabilities:     
Hotel receivables   (312)
Deferred costs   355 
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (446)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   (669)

  
 
 

Net cash provided by operating activities   903 
  

 
 

     
Cash flows from investing activities:     

Improvements and additions to hotel properties   (4,235)
Restricted cash   (393)

  
 
 

Net cash used in investing activities   (4,628)
  

 
 

     
Cash flows from financing activities:     

Payments of secured debt   (37,800)
Payments of debt   (81)
Payment of financing costs   (37)
Payment of offering costs   (4,153)
Proceeds from issuance of common shares   73,600 
Distributions-common shares/units   (1,656)

  
 
 

Net cash provided by financing activities   29,873 
  

 
 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents   26,148 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   4,768 
  

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 30,916 
  

 

 

     
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:     

Cash paid for interest  $ 447 
Cash paid for income taxes  $ 15 

 
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing information:

 
The Company has accrued distributions payable of $2,464. These distributions were paid on April 15, 2011.

     
The Company issued 12,104 shares to its independent Trustees pursuant to the Company’s Equity Incentive Plan as compensation for services
performed in 2010. Accrued share based compensation of $210 was included in Accounts payable and accrued expense as of December 31, 2010.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CHATHAM LODGING TRUST
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

1. Organization

          Chatham Lodging Trust was formed as a Maryland real estate investment trust on October 26, 2009 and intends to elect to qualify as a real estate
investment trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes beginning with its short taxable year ended December 31, 2010. We are internally-managed
and were organized to invest primarily in premium-branded upscale extended-stay and select-service hotels.

          We completed our initial public offering (the “IPO”) on April 21, 2010. The IPO resulted in the sale of 8,625,000 common shares at $20.00 price per
share, generating $172.5 million in gross proceeds. Net proceeds, after underwriters’ discounts and commissions and other offering costs, were approximately
$158.7 million. Concurrently with the closing of the IPO, in a separate private placement pursuant to Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), we sold 500,000 of our common shares to Jeffrey H. Fisher, our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, at the
public offering price of $20.00 per share, for proceeds of $10.0 million.

          On February 8, 2011, we completed a public offering that resulted in the sale of 4,600,000 common shares at $16.00 per share, generating $73.6 million
in gross proceeds. Net proceeds, after underwriters’ discounts and commissions and other offering costs, were approximately $69.4 million.

          We had no operations prior to the consummation of the IPO. Following the closing of the IPO, we contributed the net proceeds from the IPO and the
concurrent private placement, together with the proceeds of our February 2011 offering, to Chatham Lodging, L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”) in exchange
for partnership interests in the Operating Partnership. Substantially all of our assets are held by and all of our operations are conducted through the Operating
Partnership. Chatham Lodging Trust is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership and owns 100% of the common units of the limited partnership
interest in the Operating Partnership. Certain of our executive officers hold unvested long-term incentive plan units in the Operating Partnership, which are
presented as noncontrolling interests on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

          As of March 31, 2011, we owned 13 hotels with an aggregate of 1,650 rooms located in 9 states. To qualify as a REIT, we cannot operate the hotels.
Therefore, the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries lease the hotels to wholly owned lessee subsidiaries of our taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRS
Lessees”). Each hotel is leased to a TRS under a percentage lease that provides for rental payments equal to the greater of (i) a fixed base rent amount or (ii) a
percentage rent based on hotel room revenue. The initial term of each of the TRS leases is 5 years. Lease revenue from each TRS Lessee is eliminated in
consolidation. Our TRS Lessees have entered into management agreements with third party management companies that provide day-to-day management for
our hotels. Island Hospitality Management Inc. (“IHM”), which is 90% owned by Mr. Fisher, manages 5 hotels, Homewood Suites Management LLC (“IAH
Manager”), a subsidiary of Hilton Worldwide Inc. (“Hilton”) manages 6 hotels and Concord Hospitality Enterprises Company (“Concord”) manages 2 hotels.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

          Basis of Presentation

          The accompanying unaudited interim financial statements and related notes have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) and in conformity with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) applicable to interim financial
information. These unaudited consolidated financial statements, in the opinion of management, include all adjustments considered necessary for a fair
presentation of the consolidated balance sheets, consolidated statements of operations, consolidated statements of equity, and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the periods presented. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of full year performance due to seasonal and other factors.

          The consolidated financial statements include all of the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and
transactions are eliminated in consolidation. The accompanying unaudited
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consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements prepared in accordance with US GAAP, and the related
notes thereto as of December 31, 2010, which are included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010.

          Use of Estimates

          The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

3. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

          In December 2010, the FASB issued updated accounting guidance to clarify that pro forma disclosures should be presented as if a business combination
occurred at the beginning of the prior annual period for purposes of preparing both the current reporting period and the prior reporting period pro forma
financial information. These disclosures should be accompanied by a narrative description about the nature and amount of material, nonrecurring pro forma
adjustments. The new accounting guidance is effective for business combinations consummated in periods beginning after December 14, 2010, and should be
applied prospectively as of the date of adoption. Early adoption is permitted. We have adopted the new disclosures as of January 1, 2011. We do not believe
that the adoption of this guidance will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

4. Acquisition of Hotel Properties

          Acquisition of Hotel Properties

           No acquisitions were completed in the three months ended March 31, 2011. The Company incurred acquisition costs of $85 during the three months
ended March, 31, 2011.

5. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

          The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts at a level believed to be adequate to absorb estimated probable losses. That estimate is
based on past loss experience, current economic and market conditions and other relevant factors. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $4 and $15 as of
March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.

6. Investment in Hotel Properties

          Investment in hotel properties as of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, consisted of the following (in thousands):
         
  March 31, 2011  December 31, 2010 
Land and improvements  $ 24,620  $ 24,620 
Building and improvements   176,670   176,354 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment   6,301   6,138 
Construction in progress   8,084   3,505 
  

 
  

 
 

   215,675   210,617 
Less accumulated depreciation   (3,966)   (2,537)
  

 
  

 
 

Investment in hotel properties, net  $ 211,709  $ 208,080 
  

 

  

 

 

7. Debt

          Each of the Company’s mortgage loans is secured by a first-mortgage lien on the underlying property. The mortgages are non-recourse to the Company
except for fraud or misapplication of funds. Mortgage debt consisted of the following as of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 (in thousands):

8



 

                 
          Balance Outstanding as of  
  Interest   Maturity   March 31,   December 31, 

Collateral  Rate   Date   2011   2010  
Courtyard by Marriott Altoona, PA   5.96% April 1, 2016  $ 6,881  $ 6,924 
Springhill Suites by Marriott Washington, PA   5.84% April 1, 2015   5,371   5,408 
          

 
  

 
 

          $ 12,252  $ 12,332 
          

 

  

 

 

          The Company estimates the fair value of its fixed rate debt by discounting the future cash flows of each instrument at estimated market rates. Rates take
into consideration general market conditions and maturity. The estimated fair value of the Company’s debt as of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 was
$12,461 and $12,574, respectively.

           On October 12, 2010, we entered into a senior secured revolving credit facility to fund future acquisition, redevelopment and expansion activities. At
March 31, 2011, we had no outstanding borrowings under this credit facility. At March 31, 2011, there were eleven properties in the borrowing base under the
credit agreement and the maximum borrowing availability under the revolving credit facility was $67.1 million.

          As of March 31, 2011, the Company was in compliance with all of its financial covenants. Future scheduled principal payments of debt obligations as
of March 31, 2011 are as follows (in thousands):
     
  Amount  

2011 $ 253 
2012  354 
2013  375 
2014  398 
2015  4,958 

Thereafter  5,914 
  

 
 

  $ 12,252 
  

 

 

8. Income Taxes

          The Company’s TRSs are subject to federal and state income taxes. The Company’s TRSs are structured under one of two TRS holding companies that
are treated separately for income tax purposes (TRS 1 and TRS 2, respectively). The consolidated income tax expense is solely attributable to the taxable
income of TRS 2. TRS 1 has future income taxable deductions of $1.0 million related to accumulated net operating losses and the gross deferred tax asset
associated with these future tax deductions is $0.4 million. TRS 1 has recorded a valuation allowance equal to 100% of the gross deferred tax asset due to the
uncertainty of realizing the benefit of this asset due to the TRSs limited operating history and the taxable losses incurred by TRS 1 since its inception.

The components of income tax expense for the three months ended March 31, 2011 are as follows (in thousands):
     
  Three Months Ended 
  March 31, 2011  
Current:     

Federal  $ (2)
State   — 

  
 
 

Income tax expense  $ (2)
  

 

 

The tax effect of each type of temporary difference and carry forward that gives rise to the deferred tax asset as of March 31, 2011 are as follows (in
thousands):
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  March 31, 2011 
Deferred tax assets:     

Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 406 
Valuation allowance   (406)

  
 
 

Net deferred tax asset  $ — 
  

 

 

9. Dividends Declared and Paid

          The Company declared common share dividends of $0.175 per share and distributions on LTIP units of $0.175 per unit for the three months ended
March 31, 2011. The dividends and distributions were paid on April 15, 2011 to common shareholders and LTIP unitholders of record on March 31, 2011.
The Company paid dividends declared for the fourth quarter of 2010 on January 14, 2011.

10. Shareholders’ Equity

Common Shares

          The Company is authorized to issue up to 500,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest (“common shares”), $.01 par value per share. Each
outstanding common share entitles the holder to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of shareholders. Holders of the Company’s common shares are
entitled to receive dividends when authorized by our board of trustees.

Preferred Shares

          The Company is authorized to issue up to 100,000,000 preferred shares, $.01 par value per share.

Operating Partnership Units

           When issued, holders of Operating Partnership common units will have certain redemption rights, which will enable the unit holders to cause the
Operating Partnership to redeem their units in exchange for, at the Company’s option, cash per unit equal to the market price of the Company’s common
shares, at the time of redemption or for the Company’s common shares on a one-for-one basis. The number of shares issuable upon exercise of the redemption
rights will be adjusted upon the occurrence of share splits, mergers, consolidations or similar pro-rata share transactions, which otherwise would have the
effect of diluting the ownership interests of our limited partners or our shareholders. As of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, there were no Operating
Partnership common units held by unaffiliated third parties. At March 31, 2011, an aggregate of 257,775 LTIP units are held by executive officers. The LTIP
units are entitled to receive per unit distributions equal to the per share distributions paid on common shares.

          The Company completed a public offering of common shares on February 8, 2011. The offering resulted in the sale of 4,600,000 common shares at a
$16.00 price per share generating $73.6 million in gross proceeds. Net proceeds were approximately $69.4 million after underwriters’ discounts and
commissions and other offering costs paid to third parties. As of March 31, 2011, 13,820,854 common shares were outstanding.

11. Earnings Per Share

          The following is a reconciliation of the amounts used in calculating basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except share and per share data):
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  For the three months ended 
  March 31, 2011  
Numerator:     

Net loss attributable to common shareholders  $ (19)
Dividends paid on unvested restricted shares   (13)
Undistributed earnings attributable to unvested restricted shares   — 

  
 
 

Net loss attributable to common shareholders excluding amounts attributable to unvested restricted shares  $ (32)
  

 

 

     
Denominator:     

Weighted average number of common shares — basic   11,800,771 
Effect of dilutive securities:     

Unvested restricted shares (1)   — 
Compensation-related shares   — 

  
 
 

Weighted average number of common shares — diluted   11,800,771 
  

 

 

     
Basic Earnings per Common Share:     

Net loss attributable to common shareholders per weighted average common share excluding amounts attributable to
unvested restricted shares  $ 0.00 

  

 

 

     
Diluted Earnings per Common Share:     

Net loss attributable to common shareholders per weighted average common share excluding amounts attributable to
unvested restricted shares  $ 0.00 

  

 

 

 

(1)  Anti-dilutive for all periods presented.

12. Equity Incentive Plan

          The Company maintains the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan to attract and retain independent trustees, executive officers and other key employees and
service providers. The plan provides for the grant of options to purchase common shares, share awards, share appreciation rights, performance units and other
equity-based awards. Share awards under this plan generally vest over three to five years, though the independent trustees share compensation includes shares
granted that vest immediately. The Company pays dividends on unvested shares and units. Certain awards may provide for accelerated vesting if there is a
change in control. In January 2011, the Company issued 12,104 common shares to its independent trustees as compensation for services performed in 2010. A
portion of the Company’s share-based compensation to the Company’s trustees for the year ended December 31, 2011 will be distributed in January of 2012
in the form of common shares. The quantity of shares will be calculated based on the average closing prices for the Company’s common shares on the NYSE
for the last ten trading days preceding the reporting date. The Company would have distributed 4,621 common shares had the liability classified award been
satisfied as of March 31, 2011. As of March 31, 2011, there were 211,730 common shares available for issuance under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan.

          Restricted Share Awards

          The Company measures compensation expense for restricted share awards based upon the fair market value of its common shares at the date of grant.
Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period and is included in general and administrative expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company will pay dividends on nonvested restricted shares.
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          A summary of the Company’s restricted share awards for the three months ended March 31, 2011 is as follows:
         
      Weighted -
  Number of  Average Grant
  Shares  Date Fair Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2010   76,550  $19.04 
Granted   —   — 
Vested   —   — 
Forfeited   —   — 
   

 
     

Nonvested at March 31, 2011   76,550  $19.04 
   

 

     

          As of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, there were $1.1 million and $1.2 million, respectively, of unrecognized compensation costs related to
restricted share awards. As of March 31, 2011, these costs were expected to be recognized over a weighted—average period of approximately 2.1 years. For
the three months ended March 31, 2011, the Company recognized approximately $0.1 million, in expense related to the restricted share awards. This expense
is included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

          Long-Term Incentive Plan Units

          LTIP Units are a special class of partnership interests in the Operating Partnership which may be issued to eligible participants for the performance of
services to or for the benefit of the Company. Under the Equity Incentive Plan, each LTIP Unit issued is deemed equivalent to an award of one common share
thereby reducing the availability for other equity awards on a one-for-one basis. The Company will not receive a tax deduction for the value of any LTIP
Units granted to employees. LTIP Units, whether vested or not, will receive the same per unit profit distributions as other outstanding units of the Operating
Partnership, which profit distribution will generally equal per share dividends on the Company’s common shares. Initially, LTIP Units have a capital account
balance of zero, and will not have full parity with common Operating Partnership units with respect to liquidating distributions. The Operating Partnership
will revalue its assets upon the occurrence of certain specified events and any increase in valuation will be allocated first to the holders of LTIP Units to
equalize the capital accounts of such holders with the capital accounts of the Operating Partnership unit holders. If such parity is reached, vested LTIP Units
may be converted, at any time, into an equal number of common units of limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership (“OP Units”), which may be
redeemed, at the option of the holder, for cash or at the Company’s option, an equivalent number of the Company’s common shares.

          On April 21, 2010, the Company’s Operating Partnership granted 246,960 LTIP Units to the Company’s executive officers pursuant to the Equity
Incentive Plan, all of which are accounted for in accordance with FASB Codification Topic (“ASC”) 718, “Stock Compensation”. The LTIP Units granted to
the Company’s executive officers vest ratably over a five-year period beginning on the date of grant. On September 9, 2010, the Company’s Operating
Partnership granted 26,250 LTIP units to the Company’s new CFO and 15,435 LTIP units granted to the Company’s former CFO were forfeited.

          The LTIP Units’ fair value was determined by using a discounted value approach. In determining the discounted value of the LTIP Units, the Company
considered the inherent uncertainty that the LTIP Units would never reach parity with the other OP Units and thus have an economic value of zero to the
grantee. Additional factors considered in reaching the assumptions of uncertainty included discounts for illiquidity; expectations for future dividends; no
operating history as of the date of the grant; significant dependency on the efforts and services of our executive officers and other key members of
management to implement the Company’s business plan; available acquisition opportunities; and economic environment and conditions. The Company used
an expected stabilized dividend yield of 5.0% and a risk free interest rate of 2.33% based on a five-year U.S. Treasury yield.

          The Company recorded $0.2 million in compensation expense related to the LTIP Units for the three months ended March 31, 2011. As of March 31,
2011, there was $3.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to LTIP Units. This cost is expected to be recognized over 4.1 years, which
represents the weighted average remaining vesting period of the LTIP Units. As of March 31, 2011, none of the LTIP Units have reached parity.

13. Commitments and Contingencies

          Litigation

          The nature of the operations of the hotels exposes the hotels, the Company and the Operating Partnership to the risk of claims and litigation in the
normal course of their business. The Company is not presently subject to any material litigation nor, to the Company’s knowledge, is any litigation threatened.
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          Hotel Ground Rent

          The Altoona hotel is subject to a ground lease with an expiration date of April 30, 2029 with an extension option of up to 12 additional terms of five
years each. Monthly payments are determined by the quarterly average room occupancy of the hotel. Rent is equal to approximately $6 per month when
monthly occupancy is less than 85% and can increase up to approximately $20 per month if occupancy is 100%, with minimum rent increased on an annual
basis by two and one-half percent (2.5%).

          In connection with the New Rochelle hotel, there is an air rights lease and garage lease that expire on December 1, 2104. The lease agreements with the
City of New Rochelle cover the space above the parking garage that is occupied by the hotel as well as 128 parking spaces in a parking garage that is attached
to the hotel. The annual base rent for the leases is the Company’s proportionate share of the city’s adopted budget for the operations, management and
maintenance of the garage and established reserves fund for the cost of capital repairs. Total lease payments for the three months ended March 31, 2011 were
$29.

The following is a schedule of the minimum future obligation payments required under the ground lease (in thousands):
     

2011 $ 151 
2012  203 
2013  205 
2014  207 
2015  210 

Thereafter  11,871 
   

 
 

Total $ 12,847 
   

 

 

14. Related Party Transactions

          Mr. Fisher owns 90% of Island Hospitality Management, Inc. (“IHM”), a hotel management company. The Company has entered into hotel
management agreements with IHM to manage five of its hotels. Management and accounting fees paid to IHM for the three months ended March 31, 2011
were $0.2 million.

15. Subsequent Events

           On May 3, 2011, a joint venture between Cerberus Capital Management and Chatham Lodging LP (JV) was selected as the winning bidder in a
bankruptcy court auction related to 64 of Innkeepers USA Trust’s (the “Sellers”) hotels. Under the terms of the winning bid, the JV will be the plan sponsor to
acquire the hotels for a total purchase price of approximately $1.125 billion, including the assumption of debt through a plan of reorganization. The Company
will fund its investment in the joint venture with available cash and borrowings under Chatham’s secured revolving credit facility. Completion of these
transactions is pursuant to the Seller’s Plan of Reorganization for the joint venture and contingent upon satisfaction of certain conditions, including the entry
of the Confirmation Order by the Bankruptcy Court with respect to such plan.

          Also, on May 3, 2011, the Company was selected as the winning bidder in a bankruptcy court auction related to five additional hotels owned by
affiliates of the Seller. The Company has executed a purchase agreement with the Seller to acquire the following five hotels, comprising 764 rooms in the
aggregate, for $195 million, or $255,000 per room:
     
Hotel  Rooms
Residence Inn Anaheim Garden Grove, CA   200 
Residence Inn San Diego Mission Valley, CA   192 
Residence Inn Tysons Corner, VA   121 
Doubletree Guest Suites Washington D.C.   105 
Homewood Suites San Antonio Riverwalk, TX   146 
   

 
 

   764 
   

 

 

          The five-hotel acquisition will be funded through the assumption of five individual loans aggregating $134.2 million at a weighted average interest rate
of 6 percent and maturity dates in 2016 with the remainder funded from borrowings under the Company’s secured revolving credit facility. The five loans will
amortize based on a 30-year amortization period, other than the loan related to the hotel in Garden Grove which will be interest only for the first two years
after closing.
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          Completion of these transactions is pursuant to the Sellers’ Plan of Reorganization for the five hotels and contingent upon satisfaction of certain
conditions, including the entry of a Confirmation Order by the Bankruptcy Court with respect to such plan. The Seller will file a motion with the Bankruptcy
Court seeking the approval of the break-up fees and expense reimbursements totaling $2.5 million which would be payable to the Company, if, among other
reasons, the Seller terminates the purchase agreement. The Seller has scheduled a hearing to approve the Plan of Reorganization for June 23, 2011, and
assuming the Confirmation Order is entered into at such time, the Company would expect to close shortly thereafter.

          All but one of the 69 hotels to be owned by the joint venture or the Company will continue to be managed after closing by Island Hospitality
Management, a hotel management company 90 percent-owned by Jeff Fisher.

          The Company also amended its $85 million secured revolving credit facility effective May 2011. The amendment provides for an increase to the
allowable consolidated leverage ratio to 60 percent through 2012, reducing to 55 percent in 2013; and a decrease to the consolidated fixed charge coverage
ratio from 2.3x to 1.7x through March 2012, increasing to 1.75x through December 2012 and 2.0x in 2013. Subject to certain conditions, the credit facility
still has an accordion feature that provides the Company with the ability to increase the facility to $110 million, subject to Lender approval.

14



 

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition.

          The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in
this report.

Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information

          The following information contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended or the Exchange Act. These forward-looking statements include
information about possible or assumed future results of the lodging industry, our business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations, cash flow and
plans and objectives. These statements generally are characterized by the use of the words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “plan,” “continue,”
“intend,” “should,” “may” or similar expressions. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are based upon
reasonable assumptions, our actual results could differ materially from those set forth in the forward-looking statements. Some factors that might cause such a
difference include the following: the current global economic downturn, increased direct competition, changes in government regulations or accounting rules,
changes in local, national and global real estate conditions, declines in the lodging industry, seasonality of the lodging industry, our ability to obtain lines of
credit or permanent financing on satisfactory terms, changes in interest rates, availability of proceeds from offerings of our equity securities, our ability to
identify suitable investments, our ability to close on identified investments and inaccuracies of our accounting estimates. Given these uncertainties, undue
reliance should not be placed on such statements. We undertake no obligation to publicly release the results of any revisions to these forward-looking
statements that may be made to reflect future events or circumstances or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. The forward-looking statements
should be read in light of the risk factors identified in the “Risk Factors” section in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2010, as updated elsewhere in this report.

Overview

          We are a self-advised hotel investment company organized in October 2009. Our investment strategy is to invest in premium-branded upscale extended-
stay and select-service hotels in geographically diverse markets with high barriers to entry near strong demand generators. We may acquire portfolios of
hotels or single hotel transactions. We expect that a significant portion of our portfolio will consist of hotels in the upscale extended-stay or select-service
categories, including brands such as Homewood Suites by Hilton®, Residence Inn by Marriott®, Summerfield Suites by Hyatt®, Courtyard by Marriott®,
Hampton Inn® and Hampton Inn and Suites®.

          We focus on premium-branded, select-service hotels in high growth markets with high barriers to entry concentrated primarily in the 25 largest MSAs.
We believe the opportunities to acquire our target hotels are very attractive based on the belief that we are in the early stages of a lodging recovery.

          In February, we completed a $73.6 million follow-on common share equity offering, adding further strength and flexibility to our balance sheet. With
the funds we have available for investment, we have developed an active pipeline with well over $200 million in potential acquisitions.

          Our goal is to maintain our long-term leverage at a ratio of net debt to investment in hotels (at cost) at less than 35 percent. However, at this early stage
of the lodging cycle recovery, we may temporarily increase our leverage to take advantage of available opportunities. In the 2011 second quarter, our Board of
Trustees approved the increase in our targeted leverage to less than 55 percent.

           Future growth through acquisitions will be funded by both issuances of common and preferred shares, draw-downs under our credit facility, as well as
the incurrence or assumption of individually secured hotel debt at interest rates which we believe are at historically low levels.

          We believe 2011 and beyond will be excellent growth years for the industry and for Chatham. We intend to acquire quality assets at attractive prices,
improve their returns through knowledgeable asset management and seasoned, proven hotel management while remaining prudently leveraged.
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          We intend to elect to qualify for treatment as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for federal income tax purposes. In order to qualify as a REIT
under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), we cannot operate the hotels that we acquire. Therefore, our operating partnership,
Chatham Lodging, L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”), and its subsidiaries will lease our hotel properties to lessee subsidiaries (“TRS Lessees”) of our taxable
REIT subsidiaries (“TRS”), who will in turn engage eligible independent contractors to manage the hotels. Each of these lessees will be treated as a taxable
REIT subsidiary for federal income tax purposes and will be evaluated for consolidation within our financial statements for accounting purposes. However,
since we will control both the Operating Partnership and the TRS Lessees, our principal source of funds on a consolidated basis will be from the operations of
our hotels. The earnings of the TRS Lessees will be subject to taxation as regular C corporations, as defined in the Code, reducing the TRS Lessees’ cash
available to pay dividends to us, and therefore our funds from operations and the cash available for distribution to our shareholders.

Financial Condition and Operating Performance Metrics

          We measure financial condition and hotel operating performance by evaluating financial metrics such as:

 •  Revenue per Available Room (“RevPAR”),
 

 •  Average Daily Rate (“ADR”),
 

 •  Occupancy percentage,
 

 •  Funds From Operations (“FFO”),
 

 •  Adjusted FFO,
 

 •  Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”), and
 

 •  Adjusted EBITDA.

          We evaluate the hotels in our portfolio and potential acquisitions using these metrics to determine each hotel’s contribution toward providing income to
our shareholders through increases in distributable cash flow and increasing long-term total returns through appreciation in the value of our common shares.
RevPAR, ADR and Occupancy are hotel industry measures commonly used to evaluate operating performance. RevPAR, which is calculated as total room
revenue divided by total number of available rooms, is an important metric for monitoring hotel operating performance.

          Please refer to “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for a detailed discussion of our use of FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA and a
reconciliation of FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to net income or loss, a GAAP measurement.

Results of Operations

Industry outlook

          We believe that the hotel industry’s performance is correlated to the performance of the economy overall, and with key economic indicators such as
GDP growth, employment trends, corporate profits and consumer confidence improving, we expect a rebound in the performance of the hotel industry. As
reported by Smith Travel Research, after 19 consecutive months of declining year over year RevPAR, monthly RevPAR has been higher year over year since
March 2010. As reported by Smith Travel Research, RevPar in 2010 was up 5.5% and up 9.0% for the three months ended March 31, 2011. RevPar at our
hotels was up 3.3% in 2010, which includes periods prior to our ownership and was down 1.8% for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as five of our 13
hotels were undergoing significant renovations.

          While the U.S. hotel industry has shown improvement since the time of our IPO and we are encouraged by these improvements, industry operating
performance remains significantly below peak pre-2008 levels. Hotel industry operating performance historically has correlated with U.S. GDP growth, and a
number of economists and government agencies currently predict that the U.S. economy will grow over the next several years. We believe that U.S. GDP
growth, coupled with limited supply of new hotels, will lead to increases in lodging industry RevPAR and hotel operating profits.

Three months ended March 31, 2011

          Results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2011 include the operating activities of the 13 hotels owned at March 31, 2011 and are not
indicative of the results we expect when our investment strategy has been fully executed. We did not own any hotels at March 31, 2010 and had no operations
during the three months ended March 31, 2010.
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           During the first quarter of 2011, we had a net loss of $19 thousand, or a loss of $0.00 per diluted share. For the quarter, FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA
and Adjusted EBITDA were $1.4 million, $1.5 million, $2.2 million and $2.7 million, respectively.

Revenues

          Total revenue was $12.5 million for the quarter. Since all of our hotels are select service or limited service hotels, room revenue is the primary revenue
source as these hotels do not have a meaningful food and beverage revenue or large group conference facilities. As such, room revenue was $12.1 million for
the quarter, which revenue comprised 97% of total revenue for the quarter. Other operating revenue, comprised of meeting room, gift shop, in-room movie
and other ancillary amenities revenue, was $0.4 million for the quarter.

           Since room revenue is the primary component of total revenue, our revenue results are dependent on maintaining and improving occupancy, ADR and
RevPAR at our hotels. Occupancy, ADR, and RevPAR results are presented in the following table based on the period since our acquisition of the hotels:
     
  For the three months ended
  March 31, 2011
Portfolio     
ADR  $114.45 
Occupancy   71.4%
RevPar  $ 81.75 

Hotel Operating Expenses

          Hotel operating expenses were $7.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2011. As a percentage of total revenue, hotel operating expenses
were 63% for the three months ended March 31, 2011. Rooms expenses, which are the most significant component of hotel operating expense, were
$3.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2011. Other direct expenses, which include management and franchise fees, insurance, utilities, repairs and
maintenance, advertising and sales, and general and administrative expenses, were $4.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2011.

Depreciation and Amortization

          Depreciation and amortization expense was $1.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2011. Depreciation is recorded on our hotel buildings
over 40 years from the date of acquisition. Depreciable lives of hotel furniture, fixtures and equipment are generally three to ten years between the date of
acquisition and the date that the furniture, fixtures and equipment will be replaced. Amortization of franchise fees is recorded over the term of the respective
franchise agreement.

Real Estate and Personal Property Taxes

Total property tax and insurance expenses were $1.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2011.

Corporate General and Administrative

          General and administrative expenses principally consist of employee-related costs, including base payroll and amortization of restricted stock and
awards of long-term incentive plan (“LTIP”) units. These expenses also include corporate operating costs, professional fees and trustees’ fees. Total corporate
general and administrative expenses were $1.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2011. Payroll related costs were $0.4 million and share based
compensation was $0.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2011.

Hotel Property Acquisition Costs

          We incurred hotel property acquisition costs of $0.1 million for the three months ended March, 31, 2011. These expenses represent costs associated
with potential hotel acquisitions. These acquisition-related costs are expensed when incurred in accordance with GAAP.
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Interest Income

          Interest income on cash and cash equivalents was $6 for the three months ended March 31, 2011.

Interest Expense

          Interest expense was $0.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2011. In connection with the acquisition of two hotels we assumed two loans
with principal balances aggregating approximately $12.3 million. The weighted average interest rate of the two fixed rate loans is 5.9% annually. Interest
expense includes amortization of deferred financing fees of $0.3 million.

Income Tax Expense

          Income tax expense was $2 for the three months ended March 31, 2011. Our TRS are subject to income taxes and this expense is based on the taxable
income of one of our two TRS holding companies at a tax rate of approximately 40%. Our other TRS holding company had a net loss for the year and income
tax expense was zero since we established a valuation allowance for the deferred tax asset associated with the net loss.

Material Trends or Uncertainties

          We are not aware of any material trends or uncertainties, favorable or unfavorable, that may be reasonably anticipated to have a material impact on
either the capital resources or the revenues or income to be derived from the acquisition and operation of properties, loans and other permitted investments,
other than those referred to in the risk factors identified in the “Risk Factors” section of our annual report on Form 10-K, as filed with the SEC.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

          We consider the following non-GAAP financial measures useful to investors as key supplemental measures of our operating performance: (1) FFO,
(2) Adjusted FFO, (3) EBITDA, and (4) Adjusted EBITDA. These non-GAAP financial measures could be considered along with, but not as alternatives to,
net income or loss as a measure of our operating performance prescribed by GAAP.

          FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not represent cash generated from operating activities as determined by GAAP and should not
be considered as alternatives to net income or loss, cash flows from operations or any other operating performance measure prescribed by GAAP. FFO,
Adjusted FFO, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not measures of our liquidity, nor are FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA indicative of
funds available to fund our cash needs, including our ability to make cash distributions. These measurements do not reflect cash expenditures for long-term
assets and other items that have been and will be incurred. FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA may include funds that may not be available
for management’s discretionary use due to functional requirements to conserve funds for capital expenditures, property acquisitions, and other commitments
and uncertainties.

          We calculate FFO in accordance with standards established by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (NAREIT), which defines
FFO as net income or loss (calculated in accordance with GAAP), excluding gains or losses from sales of real estate, items classified by GAAP as
extraordinary, the cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles, plus depreciation and amortization (excluding amortization of deferred financing
costs), and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. We believe that the presentation of FFO provides useful information to
investors regarding our operating performance because it measures our performance without regard to specified non-cash items such as real estate
depreciation and amortization, gain or loss on sale of real estate assets and certain other items that we believe are not indicative of the performance of our
underlying hotel properties. We believe that these items are more representative of our asset base and our acquisition and disposition activities than our
ongoing operations, and that by excluding the effects of the items, FFO is useful to investors in comparing our operating performance between periods and
between REITs that report FFO using the NAREIT definition.

          We further adjust FFO for certain additional items that are not in NAREIT’s definition of FFO, including hotel property acquisition costs and costs
associated with the departure of our former chief financial officer which are referred to as “Other charges included in general and administrative expenses”
below. We believe that Adjusted FFO provides investors with another financial measure that may facilitate comparisons of operating performance between
periods and between REITs that make similar adjustments to FFO.
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          The following is a reconciliation between net loss to FFO and Adjusted FFO for the three months ended March 31, 2011 (in thousands, except share
data):
     
  For the three months ended 
  March 31, 2011  
Funds From Operations (“FFO”):     
Net loss attributable to common shareholders  $ (19)
Depreciation   1,431 
  

 
 

FFO   1,412 
     
Hotel property acquisition costs   85 
Other charges included in general and administrative expenses   — 
  

 
 

Adjusted FFO  $ 1,497 
  

 

 

     
Weighted average number of common shares     

Basic   11,800,771 
Diluted   11,800,771 

          We calculate EBITDA as net income or loss excluding: (1) interest expense; (2) provision for income taxes, including income taxes applicable to sale of
assets; and (3) depreciation and amortization. We believe EBITDA is useful to investors in evaluating our operating performance because it helps investors
compare our operating performance between periods and between REITs by removing the impact of our capital structure (primarily expense) and asset base
(primarily depreciation and amortization) from our operating results. In addition, we use EBITDA as one measure in determining the value of hotel
acquisitions and dispositions.

          We further adjust EBITDA for certain additional items, including hotel property acquisition costs, amortization of non-cash share-based compensation
and costs associated with the departure of our former chief financial officer, which are referred to as “Other charges included in general and administrative
expenses” below and which we believe are not indicative of the performance of our underlying hotel properties. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA provides
investors with another financial measure that may facilitate comparisons of operating performance between periods and between REITs that report similar
measures.

          The following is a reconciliation between net loss to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended March 31, 2011 (in thousands):
     
  For the three months ended 
  March 31, 2011  
Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”):     
Net loss attributable to common shareholders  $ (19)
Interest expense   773 
Income tax expense   2 
Depreciation and amortization   1,444 
  

 
 

EBITDA   2,200 
     
Hotel property acquisition costs   85 
Share based compensation   393 
Other charges included in general and administrative expenses   — 
  

 
 

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 2,678 
  

 

 

          Although we present FFO, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA because we believe they are useful to investors in comparing our operating performance
between periods and between REITs that report similar measures, these measures have limitations as analytical tools. Some of these limitations are:

 •  FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements, for capital expenditures or
contractual commitments;

 

 •  FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;
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 •  FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect funds available to make cash distributions;
 

 •  EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect the significant interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal
payments, on our debts;

 

 •  Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may need to be replaced in the future, and
FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements;

 

 •  Non-cash compensation is and will remain a key element of our overall long-term incentive compensation package, although we exclude it as an
expense when evaluating our ongoing operating performance for a particular period using Adjusted EBITDA;

 

 •  Adjusted FFO and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect the impact of certain cash charges (including acquisition transaction costs) that result from
matters we consider not to be indicative of the underlying performance of our hotel properties; and

 

 •  other companies in our industry may calculate FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do, limiting their usefulness
as a comparative measure.

          In addition, FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not represent cash generated from operating activities as determined by GAAP
and should not be considered as alternatives to net income or loss, cash flows from operations or any other operating performance measure prescribed by
GAAP. FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not measures of our liquidity. Because of these limitations, FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA
and Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for performance measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. We
compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP results and using FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA only
supplementally. Our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements included elsewhere are prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Sources and Uses of Cash

          Our principal sources of cash include net cash from operations and proceeds from debt and equity issuances. Our principal uses of cash include
acquisitions, capital expenditures, operating costs, corporate expenditures, debt repayments and distributions to equity holders.

          For the three months ended March 31, 2011, net cash flows provided by operations were $0.9 million, as our net loss of $19 was due in significant part
to non-cash expenses, including $1.7 million of depreciation and amortization and $0.2 million of share-based compensation expense. In addition, changes in
operating assets and liabilities due to the timing of cash receipts and payments from our hotels resulted in net cash outflow of $1.0 million. Net cash flows
used in investing activities were $4.6 million, which represents additional improvements to the thirteen hotels of $4.2 million and $0.4 million of funds placed
into escrows for lender or manager required escrows. Net cash flows provided by financing activities were $29.9 million, comprised primarily of proceeds
generated from the February common share offering net of underwriting fees and offering costs paid or payable to third parties of $69.4 million, offset by
payments on our secured credit facility of $37.8 and distributions to shareholders of $1.7 million.

          As of March 31, 2011, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $30.9 million. On April 15, 2011, we paid $2.5 million in first quarter
dividends on our common shares and distributions on our LTIP units. We intend to use available cash and borrowings under our revolving secured line of
credit to fund the cash requirements related to our six pending hotel acquisitions as well as our pending joint venture investments.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

          We intend to limit the outstanding principal amount of our consolidated indebtedness, net of cash, to not more than 35% of the investment in our hotel
properties at cost (defined as our initial acquisition price plus the gross amount of any subsequent capital investment and excluding any impairment charges)
measured at the time we incur debt, and a subsequent decrease in hotel property values will not necessarily cause us to repay debt to comply with this
limitation. Our board of trustees may modify or eliminate this policy at any time without the approval of our shareholders. At this early stage of a lodging
cycle recovery, we may temporarily increase our leverage. In the 2011 second quarter, our Board of Trustees approved the increase in our targeted leverage to
less than 55 percent.
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          We expect to meet our short-term liquidity requirements generally through net cash provided by operations, existing cash balances and, if necessary,
short-term borrowings under our credit facility. We believe that our net cash provided by operations will be adequate to fund operating obligations, pay
interest on any borrowings and fund dividends in accordance with the requirements for qualification as a REIT under the Code. We expect to meet our long-
term liquidity requirements, such as hotel property acquisitions and debt maturities or repayments through additional long-term secured and unsecured
borrowings and the issuance of additional equity or debt securities.

          On October 12, 2010, we entered into a senior secured revolving credit facility to fund future acquisition, redevelopment and expansion activities. At
March 31, 2011, we had no outstanding borrowings under this credit facility. At March 31, 2011, there were eleven properties in the borrowing base under the
credit agreement and the maximum borrowing availability under the revolving credit facility was $67.1 million.

          The credit agreement contains representations, warranties, covenants, terms and conditions customary for transactions of this type, including a
maximum leverage ratio, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and minimum net worth financial covenants, limitations on (i) liens, (ii) incurrence of debt,
(iii) investments, (iv) distributions, and (v) mergers and asset dispositions, covenants to preserve corporate existence and comply with laws, covenants on the
use of proceeds of the credit facility and default provisions, including defaults for non-payment, breach of representations and warranties, insolvency, non-
performance of covenants, cross-defaults and guarantor defaults. The two mortgage loans we assumed contain financial covenants concerning the
maintenance of a minimum debt service coverage ratio. The loan encumbering the Altoona Courtyard hotel requires a minimum ratio of 1.5x and our ratio is
1.95x. The loan encumbering the Washington SpringHill Suites hotel requires a minimum ratio of 1.65x and our ratio is 2.45x. We were in compliance with
all covenants at March 31, 2011.

          On February 8, 2011, we completed a public offering of 4.6 million common shares, raising net proceeds of $69.4 million. We used $42.8 million to
pay down debt outstanding on the revolving credit facility.

          Subsequent to March 31, 2011, we amended our $85 million secured revolving credit facility. The amendment provides for an increase in the allowable
consolidated leverage ratio to 60 percent through 2012, reducing to 55 percent in 2013; and a decrease in the consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio from
2.3x to 1.7x through March 2012, increasing to 1.75x through December 2012 and 2.0x in 2013. Subject to certain conditions, the line of credit still has an
accordion feature that provides the Company with the ability to increase the facility to $110 million.

          We will use available cash and borrowings under our secured revolving credit facility to fund the cash requirements related to pending and future hotel
acquisitions as well as our pending joint venture investment.

           We intend to continue to invest in hotel properties only as suitable opportunities arise. In the near-term, we intend to fund future investments in
properties with the net proceeds of offerings of our securities including the February 8, 2011 common share offering. Longer term, we intend to finance our
investments with the net proceeds from additional issuances of common and preferred shares, issuances of units of limited partnership interest in our
operating partnership or other securities or borrowings. The success of our acquisition strategy may depend, in part, on our ability to access additional capital
through issuances of equity securities and borrowings. There can be no assurance that we will continue to make investments in properties that meet our
investment criteria.

Dividend Policy

           Our current policy on common dividends is generally to distribute, annually, 100% of our annual taxable income. The amount of any dividends will be
determined by our Board of Trustees. On February 9, 2011, our Board of Trustees declared a dividend of $0.175 per common share and LTIP unit. The
dividends to our common shareholders and the distributions to our LTIP unit holders were paid on April 15, 2011 to holders of record as of March 31, 2011.

Capital Expenditures

          We intend to maintain each hotel property in good repair and condition and in conformity with applicable laws and regulations in accordance with the
franchisor’s standards and any agreed-upon requirements in our management and loan agreements. After we have acquired a hotel property, in certain
instances, we may be required to complete a property improvement plan (“PIP”) in order to be granted a new franchise license for that particular hotel
property. PIPs are intended to bring the hotel property up to the franchisor’s standards. Certain of our loans require that we make available for such purposes,
at the hotels collateralizing these loans, amounts up to 5% of gross revenue from such hotels. We intend to cause
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the expenditure of amounts in excess of such obligated amounts, if necessary, to comply with any reasonable requirements and otherwise to the extent that we
deem such expenditures to be in the best interests of the hotel. To the extent that we spend more on capital expenditures than is available from our operations,
which is the case with respect to the PIPs we are required to complete during 2011, we intend to fund those capital expenditures with available cash and
borrowings under the revolving credit facility.

           For the three months ended March 31, 2011, we invested approximately $4.2 million on capital investments in our hotels. We expect to invest
approximately $13 million on capital improvements in 2011 on our hotels.

Contractual Obligations

          The following table sets forth our contractual obligations as of March 31, 2011, and the effect these obligations are expected to have on our liquidity
and cash flow in future periods (in thousands). We had no other material off-balance sheet arrangements at March 31, 2011.
                     
  Payments Due by Period  
      Less Than   One to Three  Three to Five  More Than  
Contractual Obligations  Total   One Year   Years   Years   Five Years  
Corporate office lease  $ 169  $ 28  $ 77  $ 64  $ — 
Revolving credit facility, including interest (1)   1,063   319   744   —   — 
Ground lease   12,847   151   408   417   11,871 
Property Loans, including interest (1)   15,162   787   2,100   12,275   — 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ 29,241  $ 1,285  $ 3,329  $ 12,756  $ 11,871 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

(1)  Assumes no additional borrowings under the revolving credit facility and interest payments are based on the interest rate in effect as of March 31, 2011.
See Note 7, “Debt” to our consolidated financial statements for additional information relating to our property loans.

           In addition, we pay management fees to our hotel management companies based on the revenues of our hotels.

           On January 31, 2011, we entered into a contract to purchase a hotel located in the greater Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania area for a total purchase price of
approximately $24.9 million, which includes the assumption of approximately $7.3 million in debt on the property. The acquisition of this hotel is subject to
customary closing requirements and conditions. The Company can give no assurance that the transaction will be completed within the expected time frame or
at all.

Inflation

          Operators of hotels, in general, possess the ability to adjust room rates daily to reflect the effects of inflation. However, competitive pressures may limit
the ability of our management companies to raise room rates.

Seasonality

          Demand in the lodging industry is affected by recurring seasonal patterns. Generally, we expect that we will have lower revenue, operating income and
cash flow in the first and fourth quarters and higher revenue, operating income and cash flow in the second and third quarters. These general trends are,
however, expected to be greatly influenced by overall economic cycles and the geographic locations of the hotels we acquire.

Critical Accounting Policies

          Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP, which requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. While we do not believe the reported amounts would be materially different, application of these policies involves the exercise of
judgment and the use of assumptions as to future uncertainties and, as a result, actual results could differ from these estimates. We evaluate our estimates and
judgments on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. All of our significant accounting policies, including certain critical accounting policies, are disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2010.

          Recently Issued Accounting Standards

          In December 2010, the FASB issued updated accounting guidance to clarify that pro forma disclosures should be presented as if a business combination
occurred at the beginning of the prior annual period for purposes of preparing both the
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current reporting period and the prior reporting period pro forma financial information. These disclosures should be accompanied by a narrative description
about the nature and amount of material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments. The new accounting guidance is effective for business combinations
consummated in periods beginning after December 14, 2010, and should be applied prospectively as of the date of adoption. Early adoption is permitted. We
have adopted the new disclosures as of January 1, 2011. We do not believe that the adoption of this guidance will have a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

          We may be exposed to interest rate changes primarily as a result of our assumption of long-term debt in connection with our acquisitions. Our interest
rate risk management objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to lower overall borrowing costs. To achieve
these objectives, we will borrow primarily at fixed rates or variable rates with the lowest margins available and, in some cases, with the ability to convert
variable rates to fixed rates. With respect to variable rate financing, we will assess interest rate risk by identifying and monitoring changes in interest rate
exposures that may adversely impact expected future cash flows and by evaluating hedging opportunities.

          At March 31, 2011, our consolidated debt was comprised only of fixed interest rate debt. The fair value of our fixed rate debt indicates the estimated
principal amount of debt having the same debt service requirements that could have been borrowed at the date presented, at then current market interest rates.
The following table provides information about our financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest rates (in thousands):
                                 
  2011   2012   2013   2014   2015   Thereafter  Total   Fair Value  
Liabilities                                 
Floating rate:                                 

Debt          $ —              $ —  $ — 
Average interest rate (1)   4.50%  4.50%  4.50%              4.50%    

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
     

Fixed rate:                                 
Debt  $ 253  $ 354  $ 375  $ 398  $ 4,958  $ 5,914  $ 12,252  $ 12,461 

Average interest rate   5.90%  5.90%  5.90%  5.90%  5.85%  5.96%  5.91%    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
     

 

(1)  LIBOR floor rate of 1.25% plus a margin of 3.25% at March 31, 2011. The one-month LIBOR rate was 0.25% at March 31, 2011.

23



 

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

          Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we have
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b) as of the end of
the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that these disclosure
controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in reports we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to our management to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

          There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

          We are not currently involved in any material litigation nor, to our knowledge, is any material litigation pending or threatened against us.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

          There have been no material changes in the risk factors described in Item 1A of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2010.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

          None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

          None.

Item 4. Removed and Reserved

Item 5. Other information.

          None.

Item 6. Exhibits.

          The following exhibits are filed as part of this report:
     

Exhibit   
Number  Description of Exhibit
     
 10.1 

 
Agreement of Purchase and Sale, dated as of January 28, 2011, by and among Chatham Lodging Trust, as purchaser, and Schenley
Center Associates, L.P., as Sellers, for the Residence Inn by Marriott Pittsburgh, PA

     
 31.1 

 
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

     
 31.2 

 
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

     
 32.1 

 
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
     
  CHATHAM LODGING TRUST   
     
Dated: May 10, 2011

 
/s/ DENNIS M. CRAVEN
 

Dennis M. Craven  
 

  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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AGREEMENT OF PURCHASE AND SALE

     THIS AGREEMENT OF PURCHASE AND SALE (“Agreement”), dated as of the 28th day of January, 2011 (“Effective Date”), between SCHENLEY
CENTER ASSOCIATES, L.P., a Pennsylvania limited partnership (the “Seller”), and CHATHAM LODGING TRUST, a Maryland real estate investment
trust (the “Purchaser”), provides:

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS; RULES OF CONSTRUCTION

          1.1 Definitions.

     The following terms shall have the indicated meanings:

     “Act of Bankruptcy” means if a party hereto shall (a) apply for or consent to the appointment of, or the taking of possession by, a receiver, custodian,
trustee or liquidator of itself or of all or a substantial part of its Property, (b) admit in writing its inability to pay its debts as they become due, (c) make a
general assignment for the benefit of its creditors, (d) file a voluntary petition or commence a voluntary case or proceeding under the Federal Bankruptcy
Code (as now or hereafter in effect), (e) be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent, (f) file a petition seeking to take advantage of any other law relating to
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, winding-up or composition or adjustment of debts, (g) fail to controvert in a timely and appropriate manner, or
acquiesce in writing to, any petition filed against it in an involuntary case or proceeding under the Federal Bankruptcy Code (as now or hereafter in effect), or
(h) take any limited liability company, trust or corporate action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; or if a proceeding or case shall be
commenced, without the application or consent of a party hereto, in any court of competent jurisdiction seeking (1) the liquidation, reorganization, dissolution
or winding-up, or the composition or readjustment of debts, of such party, (2) the appointment of a receiver, custodian, trustee or liquidator of such party or
all or any substantial part of its assets, or (3) other similar relief under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, winding-up or composition
or adjustment of debts, and such proceeding or case shall continue undismissed; or an order (including an order for relief entered in an involuntary case under
the Federal Bankruptcy Code, as now or hereafter in effect) judgment or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered and continue
unstayed and in effect, for a period of sixty (60) consecutive days.

     “Additional Deposit” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

     “Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble hereto.

     “Assignment and Assumption Agreement” means the assignment and assumption agreement whereby the Seller assigns and the Purchaser assumes the
Operative Agreements, in such form and substance as Purchaser and Seller shall mutually agree.

     “Assumed Loan” means any loan identified on Exhibit G hereto.

     “Assumption Application” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.



 

     “Assumption Fee” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.

     “Authorizations” means all licenses, permits and approvals required by any governmental or quasi-governmental agency, body or officer for the
ownership, operation and use of such Property or any part thereof.

     “Bill of Sale (Inventory)” means the bill of sale conveying title to the Inventory to the Purchaser’s property manager, lessee or designee, in such form and
substance as Purchaser and Seller shall mutually agree.

     “Bill of Sale (Personal Property)” means the bill of sale conveying title to the Tangible Personal Property, and Intangible Personal Property, to the extent
assignable, from the Seller to the Purchaser.

     “Building Codes” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.7.

     “Closing” means a consummation of a purchase and sale of the Property pursuant to this Agreement.

     “Closing Date” means the date on which the Closing occurs, but in no event later than the date identified in Section 6.1.

     “Commission” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.19.

     “Condominium Unit” means the condominium unit legally described on Exhibit B attached hereto, together with all easements, rights, privileges,
remainders, reversions and appurtenances thereunto belonging or in any way appertaining, and all of the estate, right, title, interest, claim or demand
whatsoever of the Seller therein, in the common elements, either at law or in equity, in possession or expectancy, now or hereafter acquired

     “Deed” means a special warranty deed conveying title to the Real Property from the Seller to the Purchaser, subject only to Permitted Title Exceptions,
taxes not yet due and payable and matters identified by the applicable Survey, in such form and substance as Purchaser and Seller shall mutually agree.

     “Deposit” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

     “Due Diligence Checklist” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.

     “Effective Date” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble hereto.

     “Environmental Conditions” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.7.

     “Executive Order” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.22.

     “Fire Damaged Rooms” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.24.

     “FIRPTA Certificate” means the affidavit of each Seller conveying Real Property under Section 1445 of the Internal Revenue Code certifying that such
Seller is not a foreign
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corporation, foreign partnership, foreign trust, foreign estate or foreign person (as those terms are defined in the Internal Revenue Code and the Income Tax
Regulations), in such form and substance as Purchaser and Seller shall mutually agree.

     “Financial Information” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12.

     “Future Conveyance” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.20.

     “Future Conveyance Parcel” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.20.

     “Governmental Body” means any federal, state, municipal or other governmental department, commission, board, bureau, agency or instrumentality,
domestic or foreign.

     “Government List” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.22.

     “Guest Ledger” means the collection of all open balances, whether secured by some form of payment or unsecured, for all in house Hotel guests remaining
as of the Closing Date.

     “Hazardous Substances” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.17.

     “Hotel” means the hotel named on Exhibit A hereto and the related amenities and appurtenances thereto.

     “Improvements” means the Hotel and all other buildings, improvements, fixtures and other items of real estate pursuant to the Condominium Unit.

     “Initial Deposit” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

     “Insurance Policies” means those certain policies of insurance described on Exhibit D attached hereto.

     “Intangible Personal Property” means all intangible personal property owned by the Seller and used in connection with the ownership, operation, leasing,
occupancy or maintenance of the Property, including, without limitation, the right to use the trade name associated with the Property and all variations
thereof, the Authorizations, escrow accounts, insurance policies, general intangibles, business records, plans and specifications, surveys and title insurance
policies pertaining to the Real Property and the Personal Property, all licenses, permits and approvals with respect to the construction, ownership, operation,
leasing, occupancy or maintenance of the Property, any unpaid award for taking by condemnation or any damage to the Condominium Unit by reason of a
change of grade or location of or access to any street or highway, and the share of the Tray Ledger determined under Section 6.5, excluding (a) any of the
aforesaid rights the Purchaser elects not to acquire, (b) the Seller’s cash on hand, in bank accounts and invested with financial institutions and (c) accounts
receivable except for the above described share of the Tray Ledger.

     “Interim Liquor Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.21.
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     “Inventory” means all inventory located at the Hotel and owned by Seller, including without limitation, all mattresses, pillows, bed linens, towels, paper
goods, soaps, cleaning supplies and other such supplies.

     “Knowledge” shall mean the actual knowledge of Marc Kossman, Curtis Kossman, and Lynnette Niro after discussions with the manager of the Hotel,
without any other duty of inquiry or investigation. For the purposes of this definition, the term “actual knowledge” means, with respect to any person, the
conscious awareness of such person at the time in question, and expressly excludes any constructive or implied knowledge of such person.

     “License” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.18.

     “Licensor” means the franchisor issuing the License.

     “Liquor License” means that certain liquor license with the Pennsylvania Liquor Control Board bearing license number H 5840 and any other liquor
licenses required by applicable governing bodies for lawful service of liquor at Hotel.

     “Loan Assumption” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.

     “Operative Agreements” means the service contracts, supply contracts, leases and other agreements in effect with respect to the construction, ownership,
operation, occupancy or maintenance of the Property.

     “Owner’s Title Policy” means an owner’s policy of title insurance issued to the Purchaser by the Title Company, pursuant to which the Title Company
insures the Purchaser’s ownership of fee simple title to the Real Property (including the marketability thereof) subject only to Permitted Title Exceptions. The
Owner’s Title Policy shall insure the Purchaser in the amount of the Purchase Price and shall be acceptable in form and substance to the Purchaser. The
description of the Condominium Unit in the Owner’s Title Policy shall be the legal description and bounds and shall be identical to the description shown on
the Survey.

     “Permitted Title Exceptions” means those exceptions to title to the Real Property that are satisfactory to the Purchaser as determined pursuant to
Section 2.3.

     “PIP” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(f).

     “PIP Costs” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(f).

     “PIP Delivery Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(f).

     “Property” means collectively the Real Property, the Inventory, the Tangible Personal Property and the Intangible Personal Property owned by such Seller.

     “Purchase Price” means Twenty Four Million Nine Hundred Thousand and No/Dollars ($24,900,000).

     “Purchaser” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble hereto.
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     “Real Property” means the Condominium Unit and the Improvements.

     “Seller” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble hereto.

     “Seller’s Organizational Documents” means the current limited partnership agreement and certificate of formation of the Seller.

     “Study Period” means the period commencing at 9:00 a.m. on the Effective Date, and continuing through 5:00 p.m. on the date which is forty-five
(45) days thereafter, except as otherwise herein provided.

     “Survey” means the survey prepared delineating the location of the Improvements, all rights of way and easements and contiguous public roads, the same
prepared for the benefit of and certified to Purchaser and the Title Company. The Survey shall be adequate for the Title Company to delete any exception for
general survey matters in the Owner’s Title Policy. If there is a discrepancy between the description of the Condominium Unit attached hereto as Exhibit B
and the description of the Condominium Unit as shown on the Survey, the survey shall confirm that the property description identifies the Property.

     “Survival Period” has the meaning set forth in the last paragraph of Article 3.

     “Tangible Personal Property” means the items of tangible personal Property consisting of all furniture, fixtures and equipment situated on, attached to, or
used in the operation of the Hotel, and all furniture, furnishings, equipment, machinery, and other personal property of every kind located on or used in the
operation of the Hotel and owned by the Seller; provided, however, that the Purchaser agrees that, all Inventory shall be conveyed to the Purchaser’s property
manager for such Hotel.

     “Title Company” means Chicago Title Insurance Company, Washington, DC.

     “Tray Ledger” means the final night’s room revenue (revenue from rooms occupied as of 12:01 a.m. on the Closing Date, exclusive of food, beverage,
telephone and similar charges which shall be retained by the Seller), including any sales taxes, room taxes or other taxes thereon.

     “Utilities” means public sanitary and storm sewers, natural gas, telephone, public water facilities, electrical facilities and all other utility facilities and
services necessary for the operation and occupancy of the Property as a hotel.

     “WARN Act” means the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988.

     1.2 Rules of Construction.

     The following rules shall apply to the construction and interpretation of this Agreement:

          (a) Singular words shall connote the plural number as well as the singular and vice versa, and the masculine shall include the feminine and the neuter.
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          (b) All references herein to particular articles, sections, subsections, clauses or exhibits are references to articles, sections, subsections, clauses or
exhibits of this Agreement.

          (c) The table of contents and headings contained herein are solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement nor
shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect.

          (d) Each party hereto and its counsel have reviewed and revised (or requested revisions of) this Agreement, and therefore any usual rules of
construction requiring that ambiguities are to be resolved against a particular party shall not be applicable in the construction and interpretation of this
Agreement or any exhibits hereto.

ARTICLE 2
PURCHASE AND SALE; DEPOSIT; PAYMENT OF PURCHASE PRICE

     2.1 Purchase and Sale. The Seller agrees to sell to the Purchaser and the Purchaser agrees to purchase from the Seller the Property for the Purchase
Price, in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth herein.

     2.2 Deposit. Simultaneously with the full execution of this Agreement, the Purchaser will deposit in escrow with the Title Company the sum of One
Hundred Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($125,000) as an earnest money deposit (the “Initial Deposit”). Upon the expiration of the Study Period, if the
Purchaser elects to proceed with the purchase of the Property in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Purchaser will deposit in escrow with
the Title Company an additional sum of One Hundred Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($125,000) as additional earnest money (the “Additional Deposit”,
and together with the Initial Deposit, the “Deposit”). The Deposit shall be in the form of cash and shall be invested by the Title Company in an interest-
bearing account reasonably acceptable to the Purchaser and the Seller. Following the expiration of the Study Period, the Deposit shall be non-refundable to
Purchaser, except in the event of Seller default, failure of a condition precedent in favor of Purchaser or termination of this Agreement pursuant to
Section 2.3(d). All interest earned on the Deposit shall be paid over to the party entitled to the receipt of the Deposit under the terms of this Agreement.

     2.3 Study Period.

          (a) The Purchaser shall have the right during the Study Period (and thereafter if the Purchaser notifies the Seller that the Purchaser has elected to
proceed to Closing in the manner described below) upon not less than one (1) business day prior notice to the Seller, to enter upon the Real Property and to
perform, at the Purchaser’s expense, such economic, surveying, engineering, environmental, topographic and marketing tests, studies and investigations as
the Purchaser may deem appropriate. If such tests, studies and investigations warrant, in the Purchaser’s sole, absolute and unreviewable discretion, the
purchase of the Property for the purposes of operating a Hotel, then the Purchaser may elect to proceed to Closing and shall so notify the Seller prior to the
expiration of the Study Period. If for any reason the Purchaser does not so notify the Seller of its determination to proceed to Closing prior to the
expiration of the Study Period, or if the Purchaser notifies the Seller, in writing, prior to the expiration of the Study Period that it has determined not to
proceed to
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Closing, this Agreement shall automatically terminate, the Deposit shall be returned to the Purchaser and upon return of the Deposit, the Purchaser shall be
released from any further liability or obligation under this Agreement, except those which expressly survive the termination of this Agreement.

          (b) On or before the execution of this Agreement, the Seller shall make available to the Purchaser, its agents, auditors, engineers, attorneys and other
designees, copies of all existing architectural and engineering studies, surveys, title insurance policies, zoning and site plan materials, environmental audits
and other related materials or information, if any, relating to the Property which are in, or come into, the Seller’s possession or control including but not
limited to the documents listed in the due diligence checklist (“Due Diligence Checklist” attached as Exhibit C). Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller
shall not be obligated to deliver to the Purchaser any materials of a proprietary nature. Purchaser acknowledges that, except as otherwise herein provided,
any such materials delivered to the Purchaser pursuant to this provision shall be without warranty, representation or recourse.

          (c) The Purchaser shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the Seller against any loss, damage or claim arising from entry upon the Real Property
by the Purchaser or any agents, contractors or employees of the Purchaser. The Purchaser understands and accepts that any on-site inspections of the Real
Property shall occur at reasonable times agreed upon by the Seller and the Purchaser after not less than one (1) business day prior notice to Seller and shall
be conducted so as not to interfere unreasonably with the operation of the Property and the use of the Property by the tenants and the guests of the Hotel.
The Seller shall have the right to have a representative present during any such inspections. If the Purchaser desires to do any invasive testing at the Real
Property, the Purchaser shall do so only after obtaining the prior written consent of Seller, which approval may be subject to reasonable terms and
conditions as may be proposed by the Seller. The Purchaser shall not permit any liens to attach to the Property by reason of such inspections. The
Purchaser shall (i) restore the Property, at its own expense, to substantially the same condition which existed prior to any inspections or other activities of
the Purchaser thereon; and (ii) be responsible for and pay any and all liens by contractors, subcontractors, materialmen, or laborers performing the
inspections or any work for the Purchaser or the Purchaser Parties on or related to the Property. The terms of this Section 2.3(c) shall survive the
termination of this Agreement.

          On and after the Effective Date, Purchaser shall, at its expense, procure and continue in force, general liability insurance with a reputable insurance
company or companies, covering any and all claims for injuries to persons and any and all claims for damage to property in, on, or about the Real
Property. Such insurance shall at all times be not less than Five Hundred Thousand ($500,000.00) Dollars for injury to any one person, not less than One
Million ($1,000,000.00) Dollars for injuries to more than one person in one accident, and not less than Five Hundred Thousand ($500,000.00) Dollars for
damage to property. Such insurance shall be written with a reputable company or companies authorized to engage in the business of general liability
insurance in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Policies of insurance issued by said companies shall bear an endorsement holding and saving Seller free
and harmless and indemnified against any and all claims
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whatsoever arising out of injury to or death of any person or damage to any property resulting from Purchaser’s entry upon the Real Property. Purchaser
shall furnish Seller with customary insurance certificates evidencing such insurance, which name Seller as additional insured, and which provide that
Seller shall receive at least thirty (30) days prior notice in writing of the cancellation of any such insurance policy, and which recognizes that Purchaser’s
insurance shall be primary.

          (d) During the Study Period, the Purchaser, at its expense, shall cause an examination of title to the Property to be made, and, prior to the expiration
of the Study Period, shall notify the Seller of any defects in title shown by such examination that the Purchaser is unwilling to accept. Within ten (10) days
after such notification, the Seller shall notify the Purchaser whether the Seller is willing to cure such defects. If the Seller is willing to cure such defects,
the Seller shall act promptly and diligently to cure such defects at its expense. If such defects consist of deeds of trust, mechanics’ liens, tax liens or other
liens or charges in a fixed sum or capable of computation as a fixed sum, the Seller shall pay and discharge (and the Title Company is authorized to pay
and discharge at Closing) such defects at Closing. If the Seller is unwilling or unable to cure any other such defects by Closing, the Purchaser shall elect
(1) to waive such defects and proceed to Closing without any abatement in the Purchase Price or (2) to terminate this Agreement and receive a full refund
of the Deposit. The Seller shall not, after the date of this Agreement, subject the Property to any liens, encumbrances, covenants, conditions, restrictions,
easements or other title matters or seek any zoning changes or take any other action which may affect or modify the status of title without the Purchaser’s
prior written consent. All title matters revealed by the Purchaser’s title examination and not objected to by the Purchaser as provided above shall be
deemed Permitted Title Exceptions. If Purchaser shall fail to examine title and notify the Seller of any such title objections by the end of the Study Period,
all such title exceptions (other than those rendering title unmarketable and those that are to be paid at Closing as provided above) shall be deemed
Permitted Title Exceptions.

          (e) If, despite Purchaser’s commercially reasonable efforts to obtain and review all third party reports during the Study Period, including but not
limited to any property condition reports or Phase I environmental site assessments, Purchaser shall not have received any such reports, Purchaser shall
have the right to extend the Study Period for seven (7) days solely in order to obtain and review the third party reports Purchaser did not receive during the
Study Period. If Seller has not delivered the PIP to Purchaser as provided by Section 5.1(f), the Purchaser shall have the right to extend the Study Period
for one (1) additional day for each day after the PIP Delivery Date the PIP was actually delivered to Purchaser.

     2.4 Payment of Purchase Price. The Purchaser shall pay the balance of the Purchase Price, as adjusted in the manner specified in Article 6, in cash or by
confirmed wire transfer of immediately available federal funds to the account of the Title Company, to be disbursed to the Seller or other applicable parties
at Closing. Such wire transfer shall be sent by the Purchaser to the Title Company for the account of the Seller no later than 12:01 p.m., Pittsburgh,
Pennsylvania time on the Closing Date
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     2.5 Assumption of Assumed Loan. At the closing, Purchaser shall assume the Assumed Loan. With respect to Purchaser’s assumption of the Assumed
Loan, (a) not later than five (5) business days after the Effective Date, Purchaser shall, with the cooperation of Seller, use commercially reasonable efforts
to commence its efforts to process the assumption of the Assumed Loan by Purchaser (“Loan Assumption”), including but not limited to providing all
reasonable information concerning the transfer of the Property to the applicable lender (“Assumption Application”), (b) Purchaser and Seller shall
cooperate and use all reasonable and diligent efforts to cause the applicable lender (or its loan servicer) to consent to the Loan Assumption and to cause the
applicable Seller and all applicable guarantors, if any, to be released from any and all liability under the Assumed Loans following the Closing Date, and
to cause Seller to be released from its obligations under that certain Environmental Indemnity Agreement dated August 16, 2006 in favor of Principal
Commercial Funding, LLC, (c) for purposes of determining the amount of the Assumed Loan to be credited toward the Purchase Price, the aggregate of
the outstanding principal balance of the Assumed Loan and all accrued and unpaid interest and late charges or other similar fees, if any, as of the Closing
Date (but expressly excluding the Assumption Fee, as defined below shall be aggregated and determined and shall be credited to the Purchase Price and
(d) Purchaser shall be exclusively liable for and shall pay as the same are incurred (i) the assumption fees and/or costs required by the Lender (or the loan
servicer), and (ii) all fees, expenses and/or costs required by the lender to process the Assumption Application and the Loan Assumption including but not
limited to the initial application fee of Fifteen Thousand Dollars and No Cents ($15,000.00) (collectively, the “Assumption Fee”).

ARTICLE 3
SELLER’S REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

     To induce the Purchaser to enter into this Agreement and to purchase the Property, Seller hereby makes the following representations, warranties and
covenants, upon each of which the Seller acknowledges and agrees that the Purchaser is entitled to rely and has relied. Each such representation shall be
materially true and correct on the Effective Date and shall be materially true and correct on the Closing Date.

     3.1 Organization and Power. Seller is a limited partnership duly formed, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its state of formation
and has all requisite powers and all governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals to carry on its business as now conducted and to enter
into and perform its obligations hereunder and under any document or instrument required to be executed and delivered on behalf of the Seller hereunder.

     3.2 Authorization and Execution. This Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of the Seller, has been duly executed and
delivered by the Seller, constitutes the valid and binding agreement of the Seller and is enforceable in accordance with its terms. There is no other person
or entity who has an ownership interest in the Property to be sold hereunder by the Seller or whose consent is required in connection with the Seller’s
performance of its obligations hereunder.

9



 

     3.3 Noncontravention. Subject to any consent to the assignment of any particular Operative Agreement or management agreement required by the terms
thereof or by applicable laws, the execution and delivery of, and the performance by the Seller of its obligations under, this Agreement do not and will not
contravene, or constitute a default under, any provision of applicable law or regulation, the Seller’s Organizational Documents or any agreement,
judgment, injunction, order, decree or other instrument binding upon the Seller. There are no outstanding agreements (written or oral) pursuant to which
the Seller (or any predecessor to or representative of the Seller) has agreed to sell or has granted an option or right of first refusal to purchase the Property
or any part thereof.

     3.4 No Special Taxes. The Seller has no Knowledge of, nor has it received any notice of, any special taxes or assessments relating to the Property to be
sold hereunder by the Seller or any part thereof or any planned public improvements that may result in a special tax or assessment against the Property.

     3.5 Compliance with Existing Laws. To Seller’s Knowledge, the Seller possesses all Authorizations, each of which is valid and in full force and effect,
and no provision, condition or limitation of any of the Authorizations has been breached or violated. The Seller has not misrepresented or failed to disclose
any relevant fact in obtaining all Authorizations, and the Seller has no Knowledge of any change in the circumstances under which those Authorizations
were obtained that result in their termination, suspension, modification or limitation. The Seller has no Knowledge, nor has it received notice within the
past three (3) years, of any existing or threatened violation of any provision of any applicable building, zoning, subdivision, environmental or other
governmental ordinance, resolution, statute, rule, order or regulation, including but not limited to those of environmental agencies or insurance boards of
underwriters, with respect to the ownership, operation, use, maintenance or condition of the Property or any part thereof, or requiring any repairs or
alterations other than those that have been made prior to the date hereof.

     Seller represents that the Real Property is in the RM-VH Residential Multi-Unit, Very High Density zoning district, that the operation of the Hotel is
not a permitted use in such zoning district, and that Seller has an occupancy permit for the operation of the Hotel thereby making the operation of the
Hotel a legal non-conforming use. Seller shall, at Seller’s expense, furnish at Closing a Certificate of Zoning Classification and Legality of Use issued by
the City of Pittsburgh, which certifies the legal non-conforming use.

     3.6 Operative Agreements. The Seller will not enter into any new management agreement, maintenance or repair contract, supply contract, lease in
which it is lessee or other agreements with respect to the Property, nor shall the Seller enter into any agreements modifying the Operative Agreements,
unless (a) any such agreement or modification will not bind the Purchaser or the Property after the date of Closing or (b) the Seller has obtained the
Purchaser’s prior written consent to such agreement or modification. All of the Operative Agreements in force and effect as of the date hereof are listed on
Exhibit E attached hereto.

     3.7 Warranties and Guaranties. The Seller shall not before or after Closing, release or modify any warranties or guarantees, if any, of manufacturers,
suppliers and installers relating to the Improvements and the Personal Property or any part thereof, except with the
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prior written consent of the Purchaser. A complete list of all such warranties and guaranties in effect as of this date is attached hereto as Exhibit F.

     3.8 Insurance. To Seller’s Knowledge, all of the Seller’s Insurance Policies are valid and in full force and effect, all premiums for such policies were
paid when due and all future premiums for such policies (and any replacements thereof) shall be paid by the Seller on or before the due date therefor. The
Seller shall pay all premiums on, and shall not cancel or voluntarily allow to expire, any of the Seller’s Insurance Policies unless such policy is replaced,
without any lapse of coverage, by another policy or policies providing coverage at least as extensive as the policy or policies being replaced.

     3.9 Condemnation Proceedings; Roadways. Seller has no Knowledge of any notice of any condemnation or eminent domain proceeding pending or
threatened against the Property or any part thereof. The Seller has no Knowledge of any change or proposed change in the route, grade or width of, or
otherwise affecting, any street or road adjacent to or serving the Real Property.

     3.10 Litigation. Seller has no Knowledge of any action, suit or proceeding pending or threatened against or affecting the Seller in any court, before any
arbitrator or before or by any Governmental Body which (a) in any manner raises any question affecting the validity or enforceability of this Agreement or
any other agreement or instrument to which the Seller is a party or by which it is bound and that is or is to be used in connection with, or is contemplated
by, this Agreement, (b) could materially and adversely affect the ability of the Seller to perform its obligations hereunder, or under any document to be
delivered pursuant hereto, (c) could create a lien on the Property, any part thereof or any interest therein, (d) the subject matter of which concerns any past
or present employee of the Seller or (e) could otherwise materially adversely affect the Property, any part thereof or any interest therein or the use,
operation, condition or occupancy thereof.

     Purchaser is aware of the following two (2) pending matters of litigation of which Seller is a party (collectively, the “Pending Litigation”):

          (a) Schenley Center Associates, L.P. et al. v. Astorino Branch Engineers Inc. et al., GD-02-011612 in the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny
County, Pennsylvania.

          (b) Whitaker et al. v. Schenley Center Associates, L.P. d/b/a Residence Inn by Marriott et al., GD-08-008790 in the Court of Common Pleas of
Allegheny County, Pennsylvania.

     3.11 Labor Disputes and Agreements. Seller has no employees. Seller has no Knowledge of any labor disputes pending or, threatened as to the
operation or maintenance of the Property or any part thereof. The Seller is not a party to any union or other collective bargaining agreement with
employees employed in connection with the ownership, operation or maintenance of the Property. The Seller is not a party to any employment contracts or
agreements, and neither the Seller nor its managing agent will, between the date hereof and the date of Closing, enter into any new employment contracts
or agreements or hire any new employees except with the prior written consent of the Purchaser. The Purchaser will not be
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obligated to give or pay any amount to any employee of the Seller or the Seller’s managing agent unless the Purchaser elects to hire that employee. The
Purchaser shall not have any liability under any pension or profit sharing plan that the Seller or its managing agent may have established with respect to
the Property or their or its employees.

     3.12 Financial Information. To the best of Seller’s Knowledge, all of the Seller’s financial information, including, without limitation, all books and
records and financial statements (“Financial Information”) is correct and complete in all respects and presents accurately the results of the operations of
the Property for the periods indicated. Since the date of the last financial statement included in the Seller’s Financial Information, there has been no
material adverse change in the financial condition or in the operations of the Property.

     3.13 Operation of Property. The Seller covenants, that between the date hereof and the date of Closing, it will (a) operate the Property only in the usual,
regular and ordinary manner consistent with the Seller’s prior practice, (b) maintain its books of account and records in the usual, regular and ordinary
manner, in accordance with sound accounting principles applied on a basis consistent with the basis used in keeping its books in prior years and (c) use all
reasonable efforts to preserve intact its present business organization, keep available the services of its present officers, partners and employees and
preserve its relationships with suppliers and others having business dealings with it comply with and perform all of the duties and obligations of licensee
under the License. The Seller shall continue to use its best efforts to take guest room reservations and to book functions and meetings and otherwise to
promote the business of the Property in generally the same manner as the Seller did prior to the execution of this Agreement. All advance room bookings
and reservations and all meetings and function bookings shall continue to be booked at rates, prices and charges heretofore customarily charged by the
Seller for such purposes, and in accordance with the Seller’s published rate schedules. Except as otherwise permitted hereby, from the date hereof until
Closing, the Seller shall not take any action or fail to take action the result of which (i) would have a material adverse effect on the Property or the
Purchaser’s ability to continue the operation thereof after the date of Closing in substantially the same manner as presently conducted, (ii) reduce or cause
to be reduced any room rents or any other charges over which the Seller has operational control, or (iii) would cause any of the representations and
warranties contained in this Article 3 to be untrue as of Closing. Seller shall deliver to the Purchaser daily reports showing the income and expenses of the
Hotel and all departments thereof, together with such periodic information with respect to room reservations and other bookings, as the Seller customarily
keeps internally for its own use.

     3.14 Personal Property. All of the Tangible Personal Property, Intangible Personal Property and Inventory being conveyed by the Seller to the Purchaser
or to the Purchaser’s managing agent, lessee or designee, are free and clear of all liens, leases and other encumbrances and will be so on the date of
Closing and the Seller has good, merchantable title thereto and the right to convey same in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.

     3.15 Bankruptcy. No Act of Bankruptcy has occurred with respect to the Seller.
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     3.16 No Brokers. Other than Town Real Estate Enterprises, LLC, the Seller has not engaged the services of, nor is it or will it become liable to, any real
estate agent, broker, finder or any other person or entity for any brokerage or finder’s fee, commission or other amount with respect to the transaction
described herein. The Seller will indemnify Purchaser with respect to the claims of Town Real Estate Enterprises, LLC, and of any other broker or person
with whom the Seller dealt in connection with this transaction.

     3.17 Hazardous Substances. The Seller has no Knowledge:

          (a) of the presence of any “Hazardous Substances” (as defined in Section 4.7) on the Property, or any portion thereof in violation of applicable law, or,

          (b) of any spills, releases, discharges, or disposal of Hazardous Substances that have occurred or are presently occurring on or onto the Property, or any
portion thereof, the amount or volume of which is in violation of applicable law, or

          (c) of the presence in violation of applicable law of any PCB transformers serving, or stored on, the Property, or any portion thereof, and Seller has no
knowledge of any failure to comply with any applicable local, state and federal environmental laws, regulations, ordinances and administrative and judicial
orders relating to the generation, recycling, reuse, sale, storage, handling, transport and disposal of any Hazardous Substances.

     3.18 License. To Seller’s Knowledge, the franchise license with respect to the Hotel (the “License”) is valid and in full force and effect, and Seller is not in
default with respect thereto (with or without the giving of any required notice and/or lapse of time).

     3.19 Independent Audit. Seller shall provide access by Purchaser’s representatives to all financial and other information relating to the Property which
would be sufficient to enable them to prepare audited financial statements in conformity with Regulation S-X of the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “Commission”) and to enable them to prepare a registration statement, report or disclosure statement for filing with the Commission. Seller shall also
provide to Purchaser’s representatives a signed representative letter which would be sufficient to enable an independent public accountant to render an
opinion on the financial statements related to the Property. This shall survive for two years after the last Closing Date.

     3.20 Bulk Sale Compliance. The Seller shall indemnify Purchaser against any claim, loss or liability arising under the bulk sales law in connection with the
transaction contemplated herein.

     3.21 Liquor License. To Seller’s Knowledge, the liquor license for the Hotel (and any restaurant located therein) is in full force and effect and validly
licensed to the person(s) required to be licensed under the law of the State in which the Hotel is located. If, on the Closing Date, the Purchaser is unable to
(1) obtain the permanent transfer of the Liquor License; or (2) obtain another arrangement pending the permanent transfer of the Liquor License to the
Purchaser, then, on the Closing Date, the Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to enter into an agreement with the Purchaser, to the extent legally
permissible and on terms and conditions reasonably acceptable to the Purchaser and the
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Seller, providing for an interim arrangement (the “Interim Liquor Agreement”) of up to six (6) months whereby the Seller shall allow the Purchaser, the
Purchaser’s Lessee or the Purchaser’s hotel management company, as applicable, to operate all food and beverage areas within the Hotel under the existing
Liquor License pending the temporary or permanent transfer of the Liquor License to the Purchaser, the Purchaser’s Lessee or the Purchaser’s hotel
management company, as applicable. The Interim Liquor Agreement may be structured in the form of a short term lease or other agreement to consummate
the intent of the parties, cancelable at any time by the Purchaser. The Purchaser shall indemnify, defend and hold the Seller and its affiliates harmless against
any liabilities incurred in such operation (unless caused by the Seller’s willful or grossly negligent conduct or omission or material breach of the Interim
Liquor Agreement) and provide adequate insurance (including, without limitation, liquor liability insurance) naming the Seller as an additional insured.

     3.22 Money Laundering. The Seller is not acting, directly or indirectly, for or on behalf of any person, group, entity or nation named by the United States
Treasury Department as a Specifically Designated National and Blocked person, or for or on behalf of any person, group, entity or nation designated in
Presidential Executive Order 13224 (the “Executive Order”) as a person who commits, threatens to commit, or supports terrorism; and it is not engaged in this
transaction directly or indirectly on behalf of, or facilitating this transaction directly or indirectly on behalf of, any such person, group, entity or nation
terrorists, terrorist organizations or narcotics traffickers, including, without limitation, those persons or entities that appear on the Annex to the Executive
Order, or are included on any relevant lists maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of U.S. Department of Treasury, U.S. Department of State, or
other U.S. government agencies, all as may be amended from time to time. Neither Seller, nor any person controlling or controlled by Seller, is a country,
territory, individual or entity named on a Government List, and the monies used in connection with this Agreement and amounts committed with respect
thereto, were not and are not derived from any activities that contravene any applicable anti-money laundering or anti bribery laws and regulations (including,
without limitation, funds being derived from any person, entity, country or territory on a Government List or engaged in any unlawful activity defined under
18 USC §1956(c)(7)). For purposes of this Agreement, “Government List” means of any of (i) the two lists maintained by the United States Department of
Commerce (Denied Persons and Entities), (ii) the list maintained by the United States Department of Treasury (Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked
Persons) and (iii) the two lists maintained by the United States Department of State (Terrorist Organizations and Debarred Parties).

     3.23 Sewage Facility. The Pennsylvania Sewage Facilities Act of January 24, 1966, No. 537, P.L. 1535, as amended, requires that there be a statement
regarding the availability of a community sewage system. The Property is serviced by a community sewage system.

     3.24 Fire Damage. The Hotel is currently in a condition sufficient to meet standards of Licensor except for those rooms damaged as a result of the
negligence of a Hotel guest in Room #617 on or about December 11, 2010 which caused damage (including water damage from the sprinkler system) to
hallways and stairways on the first through sixth floors and damage to rooms including but not limited to rooms numbered 131, 133, 135, 215, 217,
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315, 317, 413, 415-421, 515, 517-521, 613, 615-621 (“Fire Damaged Rooms”). The damage to the Fire Damaged Rooms was an insurable loss, and repairs
are or shall be completed by Seller or its designee on or before February 15, 2011. Upon substantial completion of the work to repair the Fire Damaged
Rooms, Seller will give Purchaser two (2) business days’ notice of an inspection to confirm the status of the work, and Purchaser shall have the right to attend
said inspection and provide punch items for Seller to repair in order to reasonably satisfy Purchaser.

     The representations and warranties in this Article 3 shall survive the Closing for a period of one (1) year following the Closing Date (“Survival Period”).
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, any claim that Purchaser may have during the Survival Period against Seller for any
breach of the representations and warranties contained in this Article 3 will not be valid or effective, and Seller shall have no liability with respect thereto,
unless the aggregate of all valid claims exceed Fifty Thousand and No/Dollars ($50,000.00). Seller’s liability for damages resulting from valid claims during
the Survival Period shall in no event exceed two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the Purchase Price in the aggregate. Purchaser agrees that, with respect to any
alleged breach of representations in this Agreement discovered after the Survival Period, the maximum liability of Seller for all such alleged breaches is
limited to One Hundred and No/Dollars ($100.00). In the event Purchaser obtains actual knowledge on or before Closing of any material inaccuracy in any of
the representations and warranties contained in this Article 3, and such material inaccuracy is not promptly corrected or resolved by Seller following notice
from Purchaser, Purchaser may as Purchaser’s sole and exclusive remedy either: (i) terminate this Agreement, whereupon the Deposit and the initial loan
assumption application fee of Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000.00) referred to in Section 2.5 shall be refunded to Purchaser and neither party shall have any
further rights or obligations pursuant to this Agreement, other than as set forth herein with respect to rights or obligations that survive termination; or
(ii) waive any and all claims against Seller on account of such inaccuracy and close the transaction. In the event Purchaser obtains knowledge on or before the
expiration of the Study Period of any inaccuracy in any of the representations and warranties contained in this Article 3, and Purchaser does not terminate this
Agreement on or before the expiration of the Study Period, Purchaser shall be deemed to have waived any and all claims against Seller on account of such
inaccuracy (including the right to terminate this Agreement following the expiration of the Study Period). The provisions of this Article 3 shall survive the
Closing.

ARTICLE 4
PURCHASER’S REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

     To induce the Seller to enter into this Agreement and to sell the Property, the Purchaser hereby makes the following representations, warranties and
covenants, upon each of which the Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that the Seller is entitled to rely and has relied. Each such representation shall be
materially true and correct on the Effective Date and shall be materially true and correct on the Closing Date.

     4.1 Organization and Power. The Purchaser is a real estate investment trust duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the
State of Maryland, and has all trust powers and all governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals to
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carry on its business as now conducted and to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement and any document or instrument required to be
executed and delivered on behalf of the Purchaser hereunder.

     4.2 Noncontravention. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance by the Purchaser of its obligations hereunder do not and will not
contravene, or constitute a default under, any provisions of applicable law or regulation, the Purchaser’s declaration of trust or other trust document or any
agreement, judgment, injunction, order, decree or other instrument binding upon the Purchaser.

     4.3 Litigation. There is no action, suit or proceeding, pending or known by the Purchaser to be threatened against or affecting the Purchaser in any court or
before any arbitrator or before any Governmental Body which (a) in any manner raises any question affecting the validity or enforceability of this Agreement
or any other agreement or instrument to which the Purchaser is a party or by which it is bound and that is to be used in connection with, or is contemplated by,
this Agreement, (b) could materially and adversely affect the ability of the Purchaser to perform its obligations hereunder, or under any document to be
delivered pursuant hereto, (c) could create a lien on the Property, any part thereof or any interest therein or (d) could adversely affect the Property, any part
thereof or any interest therein or the use, operation, condition or occupancy thereof.

     4.4 Bankruptcy. No Act of Bankruptcy has occurred with respect to the Purchaser.

     4.5 No Brokers. Other than CB Richard Ellis, the Purchaser has not engaged the services of, nor is it or will it become liable to, any real estate agent,
broker, finder or any other person or entity for any brokerage or finder’s fee, commission or other amount with respect to the transaction described herein.
The Purchaser will indemnify Seller with respect to the claims of CB Richard Ellis, and of any other broker or person with whom the Purchaser dealt in
connection with this transaction.

     4.6 Money Laundering. The Purchaser is not acting, directly or indirectly, for or on behalf of any person, group, entity or nation named by the United
States Treasury Department as a Specifically Designated National and Blocked person, or for or on behalf of any person, group, entity or nation designated in
the Executive Order as a person who commits, threatens to commit, or supports terrorism; and it is not engaged in this transaction directly or indirectly on
behalf of, or facilitating this transaction directly or indirectly on behalf of, any such person, group, entity or nation terrorists, terrorist organizations or
narcotics traffickers, including, without limitation, those persons or entities that appear on the Annex to the Executive Order, or are included on any relevant
lists maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of U.S. Department of Treasury, U.S. Department of State, or other U.S. government agencies, all as
may be amended from time to time. Neither Purchaser, nor any person controlling or controlled by Purchaser, is a country, territory, individual or entity
named on a Government List, and the monies used in connection with this Agreement and amounts committed with respect thereto, were not and are not
derived from any activities that contravene any applicable anti-money laundering or anti bribery laws and regulations (including, without limitation, funds
being derived from any person, entity,
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country or territory on a Government List or engaged in any unlawful activity defined under 18 USC §1956(c)(7)).

     4.7 AS IS, WHERE IS.

     PURCHASER EXPRESSLY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT, AS A MATERIAL PART OF THE CONSIDERATION FOR THIS
AGREEMENT, THE PROPERTY IS BEING SOLD TO PURCHASER AND PURCHASER AGREES TO PURCHASE AND ACCEPT THE PROPERTY,
AND EACH AND EVERY PART AND COMPONENT THEREOF, IN AN “AS IS, WHERE IS” CONDITION AS OF THE CLOSING WITH NO
REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES FROM SELLER, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS
AGREEMENT. PURCHASER AGREES THAT PURCHASER IS NOT RELYING UPON, AND HAS NOT RECEIVED OR BEEN GIVEN, ANY
REPRESENTATIONS (EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT), STATEMENTS OR WARRANTIES (ORAL OR WRITTEN,
IMPLIED OR EXPRESS) OF OR BY ANY OFFICER, EMPLOYEE, AGENT OR REPRESENTATIVE OF SELLER, OR ANY SALESPERSON OR
BROKER (IF ANY) INVOLVED IN THIS TRANSACTION, AS TO THE PROPERTY OR ANY PART OR COMPONENT THEREOF IN ANY
RESPECT, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY REPRESENTATIONS, STATEMENTS OR WARRANTIES AS TO THE PHYSICAL OR
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITION OF THE PROPERTY, THE FITNESS OF THE PROPERTY FOR USE AS A HOTEL, THE FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE OR POTENTIAL OF THE PROPERTY, THE COMPLIANCE OF THE PROPERTY WITH APPLICABLE BUILDING, ZONING,
SUBDIVISION, ENVIRONMENTAL, LIFE SAFETY OR LAND USE LAWS, CODES, ORDINANCES, RULES, ORDERS, OR REGULATIONS, OR
THE STATE OF REPAIR OF THE PROPERTY, AND PURCHASER, FOR ITSELF AND ITS HEIRS, LEGAL REPRESENTATIVES, SUCCESSORS
AND ASSIGNS, WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO ASSERT ANY CLAIM OR DEMAND AGAINST SELLER AT LAW OR IN EQUITY RELATING TO ANY
SUCH MATTER, WHETHER LATENT OR PATENT, DISCLOSED OR UNDISCLOSED, KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, NOW EXISTING OR
HEREAFTER ARISING EXCEPTING ANY CLAIM OR DEMAND RELATING TO REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES EXPRESSLY SET
FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT. EXCEPT FOR ANY TITLE OR SURVEY MATTERS CREATED SOLELY BY SELLER IN VIOLATION OF THIS
AGREEMENT, PURCHASER AGREES THAT IT SHALL HAVE NO RECOURSE WHATSOEVER AGAINST SELLER, AT LAW OR IN EQUITY,
SHOULD THE SURVEY OR THE TITLE INSURANCE COMMITMENTS OR THE TITLE POLICIES FAIL TO DISCLOSE ANY MATTER
AFFECTING THE PROPERTY OR REVEAL ANY SUCH MATTER IN AN INACCURATE, MISLEADING OR INCOMPLETE FASHION OR
OTHERWISE BE IN ERROR. PURCHASER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT SHALL REVIEW THE SURVEY AND THE TITLE INSURANCE
COMMITMENTS (AS SAME MAY BE MARKED AT CLOSING) AND TO DISCUSS THEIR CONTENTS WITH THE INDEPENDENT
CONTRACTORS WHO PREPARED OR ISSUED EACH OF THEM. PURCHASER ACCORDINGLY AGREES TO LOOK SOLELY TO THE
PREPARER OF THE SURVEY AND THE ISSUER OF THE TITLE INSURANCE COMMITMENTS AND TITLE POLICIES FOR ANY CLAIM
ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH SUCH
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INSTRUMENTS AND HEREBY RELEASES SELLER FROM ANY SUCH CLAIM (EXCEPT FOR ANY CLAIM THAT SELLER AGREES TO CURE
AS SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT).

     Purchaser recognizes that the Hotel and Personal Property are not new and that there exists a possibility that the Property is not in compliance with the
requirements which would be imposed on a newly constructed hotel by presently effective federal, state and local building, plumbing, electrical, fire, health,
handicap, environmental and life safety laws, codes, ordinances, rules, orders and/or regulations (collectively, the “Building Codes”). The Hotel and other
improvements may contain substances or materials no longer permitted to be used in newly constructed buildings including, without limitation, asbestos or
other insulation materials, lead or other paints, wiring, electrical, or plumbing materials and may not contain other materials or equipment required to be
installed in a newly constructed building. Purchaser will have the opportunity, as provided for in Section 2.3, to investigate and inspect the Property and
review the results of such investigations and inspections of the Property as Purchaser deemed necessary with respect to all such matters. Except as otherwise
set forth in this Agreement, Purchaser agrees to accept and shall the Property in an “AS-IS, WHERE IS” condition and at Closing to accept and assume the
risk of noncompliance of the Property with all such building codes. Except with respect to those representations set forth in Article 3 hereof, Purchaser waives
any right to excuse (except as specifically set forth in this Agreement) or delay performance of its obligations under this Agreement or to assert any claim
against Seller (before or after Closing) arising out of any failure of the Property to comply with any such building codes.

     Except with respect to those representations set forth in Article 3, it is specifically understood and agreed by Seller and Purchaser that Seller does not
make, and shall not be deemed to have made, any representation, warranty or covenant with respect to (i) any Environmental Laws that may affect any of the
Property or (ii) the presence or absence of any Hazardous or Toxic Substances in, on, above, under or about any of the Property (“Environmental
Conditions”). From and after Closing, Purchaser agrees for itself and for its heirs, successors and assigns, to waive all of its rights under this Agreement, if
any, and any Environmental Laws to require Seller to remediate or “clean up” the Property and releases Seller from any liability of any kind or nature arising
with respect to any Environmental Conditions at the Property. As used in this Agreement, (A) the term “Environmental Laws” means all federal, State and
local laws, codes, ordinances, rules, orders and regulations now or hereafter in effect relating to pollution or the protection of the environment, including
without limitation, all laws, codes, ordinances, rules, orders and regulations governing the generation, use, collection, treatment, storage, transportation,
recovery, removal, discharge, spill or disposal of any or all Hazardous or Toxic Substances, and (B) the term “Hazardous Substances” or “Toxic Substances”
means materials and substances defined as “hazardous substances”, “hazardous wastes”, “toxic substances” or “toxic wastes” in (I) the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, 42 U.S.C. Sections 9601-9675, as amended by the Superfund Amendments and
Reauthorization Act of 1988, and any further amendments thereto and rules, orders and regulations thereunder; (II) the Resource Conservation and Recovery
Act of 1976, 42 U.S.C. Sections 6901-6992, as amended by the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments of 1984, and any further amendments thereto and
rules, orders and regulations thereunder; or (III) any other

18



 

Environmental Laws. Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that: (a) Purchaser is an experienced and sophisticated owner of real property; (b) Purchaser has
expressly negotiated the limitations of liability contained in this Section; and (c) the limitations contained in this Section are reasonable. Purchaser
acknowledges and agrees that Seller has agreed to enter into this Agreement in consideration for and in reliance upon the foregoing limitations of liability, and
that the consideration under this Agreement is based in part on the limitations of liability.

     It is understood and agreed by Seller and Purchaser that in the event of any conflict between the terms and provisions of this Section 4.7 and any other
term or provision to this Agreement, the relevant term or provision of this Section 4.7 shall control and govern. The provisions of this Article 4 shall survive
Closing.

ARTICLE 5
CONDITIONS AND ADDITIONAL COVENANTS

     5.1 Conditions to Purchaser’s Obligations. The Purchaser’s obligations hereunder are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent with
respect to the Property and the compliance by the Seller with the following covenants, to the extent applicable to the Seller:

          (a) Seller’s Deliveries. The Seller shall have delivered to the Title Company or the Purchaser, as the case may be, on or before the date of Closing, all of
the documents and other information required of the Seller pursuant to Section 6.2.

          (b) Representations, Warranties and Covenants; Obligations of the Seller; Certificate. All of the Seller’ representations and warranties made in this
Agreement shall be true and correct as of the date hereof and as of the date of Closing as if then made, there shall have occurred no material adverse change in
the condition of the Property since the date hereof, the Seller shall have performed all of the covenants and other obligations under this Agreement applicable
to the Seller and the Seller shall have executed and delivered to the Purchaser at Closing a certificate to the foregoing effect.

          (c) Condition of Improvements. Except to the extent that repair or restoration of a Property is required hereunder, in which case the Improvements and
the Tangible Personal Property shall be in the condition required by this Agreement, the Improvements and the Tangible Personal Property (including but not
limited to the mechanical systems, plumbing, electrical, wiring, appliances, fixtures, heating, air conditioning and ventilating equipment, elevators, boilers,
equipment, roofs, structural members and furnaces) shall be in the same or better condition at Closing as they are as of the date hereof, reasonable wear and
tear excepted. Prior to Closing, the Seller shall not have diminished the quality or quantity of maintenance and upkeep services heretofore provided to the
Real Property and the Tangible Personal Property and the Seller shall not have diminished the Inventory (except as may be diminished in the normal course of
business). The Seller shall not have removed or caused or permitted to be removed any part or portion of the Real Property or the Tangible Personal
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Property unless the same is replaced, prior to Closing, with similar items of at least equal quality and acceptable to the Purchaser.

          (d) Environmental Report; Property Condition Report. Provided Purchaser has used commercially reasonable and diligent efforts, the Purchaser shall
have obtained, at Purchaser’s expense, a current Phase I environmental report and a current property condition report, each of which shall be satisfactory to
the Purchaser in its reasonable discretion.

          (e) Franchise License. The Licensor shall have consented to the sale of the Property, and the Purchaser and Licensor shall have arranged for the
assignment and assumption of the License or the termination of the existing License and the replacement thereof with a new License to which the Purchaser is
a party. The Purchaser will use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such License and shall pay all costs and expenses associated therewith. The Seller
shall assist the Purchaser in respect thereto, but shall not be responsible for any costs or expenses.

          (f) Property Improvement Plan. To the extent required by the Licensor and provided that Purchaser has used commercially reasonable and diligent
efforts, the Purchaser shall have obtained a Property Improvement Plan (“PIP”) from Licensor by and at the cost of the Purchaser. As soon as possible
following the Effective Date, the Seller shall arrange for the inspection and creation of a PIP by the Licensor for the Property (to the extent such PIP has not
already been initiated), and the Seller shall endeavor to have each such PIP document (but not the work specified therein) completed as promptly as possible
and delivered to Purchaser within fifteen (15) days following the Effective Date (“PIP Delivery Date”). The Purchaser shall be responsible for any fees or
expenses charged by the franchisors for completing such inspections and preparing the PIPs except that if Purchaser shall terminate this Agreement due to a
material breach by Seller, Seller shall reimburse Purchaser all such costs. The Purchaser shall be responsible for the completion of such PIP work and all costs
associated therewith (“PIP Costs”).

          (g) Management Agreement. The Seller shall, effective on or before the date of Closing, effect the termination of the Management Agreement and pay
all costs incurred in connection therewith. The Seller shall use its commercially reasonable good faith efforts to negotiate the notice requirements relating to
the termination of the Management Agreement on or before Closing and will bear all costs associated therewith, including but not limited to any payments to
the manager in connection with such negotiations and all costs for early termination or failure to satisfy notice requirements of the Management Agreement.
The Seller shall indemnify and hold the Purchaser harmless from any claims or liability relating to the Management Agreement.

          (h) Liquor. It shall be legally permissible to serve alcohol to Hotel guests after Closing in accordance with all applicable laws and the transfer of the
Liquor License to the Purchaser.

          (i) Assumption of Assumed Loan. Purchaser shall have received the applicable lender’s approval of the assumption of the Assumed Loan.
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          (j) Fire Damage. Seller shall have caused all Fire Damaged Rooms to be returned to condition sufficient to meet Licensor’s standards. To the extent the
Fire Damaged Rooms have not been returned to such condition as of Closing, Seller agrees to assign to Purchaser such unused portion of its insurance claim
attributable to the unfinished work to entitle Purchaser to be the beneficiary of said portion of the claim in order to cause the Fire Damaged Rooms repairs to
be completed.

          (k) Common Areas. Seller shall have used its commercially reasonable good faith efforts to modify that certain Declaration of Condominium dated
October 15, 1998, recorded in the Recorder’s Office of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania, in Deed Book Volume 10321, Page 369, as amended on August 10,
2006, (the “Condo Declaration”) as may be necessary to resolve all issues relating to condominium Common Elements (as that term is defined in the Condo
Declaration) including but not limited to providing mechanics for the resolution of disputes and allocating use of and cost sharing obligations as to the
parking garage and trellis areas. Such efforts shall include, but not be limited to, causing the Condo Declaration to be amended to the extent necessary to
accomplish the foregoing, and full cooperation in obtaining any consents (including the consent of any lender) required in connection with such modifications
or amendments.

     5.2 Conditions to Seller’s Obligations. The Seller’s obligations hereunder are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent with respect
to the Property and the compliance by the Purchaser with the following covenants, to the extent applicable to the Purchaser:

          (a) Purchaser’s Deliveries. The Purchaser shall have delivered to the Title Company or the Seller, as the case may be, on or before the date of Closing,
all of the documents and other information required of the Seller pursuant to Section 6.3.

          (b) Representations, Warranties and Covenants; Obligations of the Purchaser; Certificate. All of the Purchaser’s representations and warranties made in
this Agreement shall be materially true and correct as of the date hereof and as of the date of Closing as if then made, there shall have occurred no material
adverse change in the financial condition of the Purchaser since the date hereof, the Purchaser shall have performed all of the covenants and other obligations
under this Agreement applicable to the Purchaser and the Purchaser shall have executed and delivered to the Purchaser at Closing a certificate to the
foregoing effect.

          (c) Franchise License. The Licensor shall have consented to the sale of such Property, and the Purchaser, Seller and Licensor shall have arranged for the
assignment and assumption of the License or the termination of the existing License and the replacement thereof with a new License to which the Purchaser is
a party. The Seller, its manager and, if applicable, any guarantor, and each of their respective affiliates, shall have been released from all future duties,
liabilities and obligations under the License and any guarantee(s) thereof, in such form and to such an extent that Licensor customarily provides, if any.
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          (d) Liquor License. Purchaser shall make application for the transfer of the Liquor License promptly following the Effective Date and will use
commercially reasonable efforts to cause the transfer to be effective on or after the Closing Date.

ARTICLE 6
CLOSING

     6.1 Closing.

          (a) Closing shall be conducted through the Title Company or in another manner at a location that is mutually acceptable to the parties, on or before the
later of the date that is fifteen (15) business days following the expiration of the Study Period, as it may be extended pursuant to Section 2.3(e), and the
closing date of Purchaser’s assumption of the Assumed Loan. Possession of the Property shall be delivered to the Purchaser at the applicable Closing, subject
only to Permitted Title Exceptions and guests of the Hotel.

     6.2 Seller’s Deliveries. Seller shall deliver to Purchaser all of the following instruments, each of which shall have been duly executed and, where
applicable, acknowledged on behalf of the Seller and shall be dated as of the date of Closing:

          (a) The certificates required by Section 5.1(b) and Section 3.5;

          (b) The Deed;

          (c) The Bill of Sale (Inventory);

          (d) The Bill of Sale (Personal Property);

          (e) The Assignment and Assumption Agreement;

          (f) Certificate(s)/Registration of Title for the following vehicles owned by the Seller and used in connection with the Property;

          (i) 2006 Chevrolet Express; Title #64264746602 SC; VIN# 1GAHG39U661218493

          (ii) 2006 Chevrolet Express; Title #64264717502 SC; VIN# 1GAHG39U261220919

          (g) Such agreements, affidavits or other documents as may be required by the Title Company to issue the Owner’s Title Policy with affirmative
coverage over mechanics’ and materialmen’s liens;

          (h) The FIRPTA Certificate;

          (i) True, correct and complete copies of all warranties, if any, of manufacturers, suppliers and installers possessed by the Seller and relating to the
Improvements and the Personal Property, or any part thereof;
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          (j) Copies of certificate(s) of occupancy for the Real Property and Improvements, issued by the appropriate governmental authority;

          (k) Such proof as the Purchaser may reasonably require with respect to Seller’s compliance with the bulk sales laws or similar statutes;

          (l) A written instrument executed by the Seller, conveying and transferring to the Purchaser all of the Seller’s right, title and interest in any telephone
numbers and facsimile numbers relating to the Property, and, if the Seller maintains a post office box, conveying to the Purchaser all of its interest in and to
such post office box and the number associated therewith, so as to assure a continuity in operations and communications;

          (m) All current real estate and personal property tax bills in the Seller’s possession or that Seller may reasonably obtain;

          (n) A complete set of all guest registration cards, guest transcripts, and all other available guest information;

          (o) A complete list of all advance room reservations, functions and the like, in reasonable detail so as to enable the Purchaser to honor the Seller’s
commitments in that regard;

          (p) A list of the Seller’s outstanding accounts receivable as of midnight on the date prior to the Closing, specifying the name of each account and the
amount due the Seller;

          (q) Written notice executed by the Seller notifying all interested parties, including all tenants under any leases of the Property, that the Property has
been conveyed to the Purchaser and directing that all payments, inquiries and the like be forwarded to the Purchaser at the address to be provided by the
Purchaser;

          (r) All keys for the Property;

          (s) All books, records, operating reports, appraisal reports, files and other materials in the Seller’s possession or control which are necessary in the
Purchaser’s discretion to maintain continuity of operation of the Property;

          (t) An assignment of all warranties and guarantees from all contractors and subcontractors, manufacturers, and suppliers in effect with respect to the
Improvements;

          (u) Complete set of “as-built” drawings for the Improvements, if any in Seller’s possession; and

          (v) Any other document or instrument reasonably requested by the Purchaser or required hereby.

     6.3 Purchaser’s Deliveries. At Closing, the Purchaser shall pay or deliver to the Seller the following:
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          (a) The certificate required by Section 5.2(b);

          (b) The portion of the Purchase Price described in Section 2.4;

          (c) The Bill of Sale (Inventory);

          (d) The Bill of Sale (Personal Property);

          (e) The Assignment and Assumption Agreement; and

          (f) Any other document or instrument reasonably requested by the Seller or required hereby.

     6.4 Closing Costs. Seller and Purchaser shall be responsible for the payment of its own attorney’s fees incurred in connection with transaction which is the
subject of this Agreement.

          (a) Purchaser Costs. Purchaser shall pay for: all costs and expenses associated with the inspection and due diligence of the Property (including, but not
limited to, any updated surveys and environmental reports), all costs associated with the assignment/ new License, title insurance, one-half (.5) of
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, municipal and school district realty transfer tax; recording cost of the Deed (and mortgage, if any).

          (b) Seller’s Costs. The Seller shall pay for: the releases of any deeds of trust, mortgages and other financing encumbering the Property and for any costs
associated with any corrective instruments, and one-half (.5) of Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, municipal and school district realty transfer tax.

     6.5 Income and Expense Allocations.

          (a) All income, except any Intangible Personal Property, and expenses with respect to the Property, and applicable to the period of time before and after
Closing, determined in accordance with sound accounting principles consistently applied, shall be allocated between the Seller and the Purchaser. The Seller
shall be entitled to all income and responsible for all expenses for the period of time up to but not including the Closing Date, and the Purchaser shall be
entitled to all income and responsible for all expenses for the period of time from, after and including the Closing Date. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, the following items of income and expense shall be allocated at Closing:

               (i) Current and prepaid rents, including, without limitation, prepaid room receipts, function receipts and other reservation receipts;

               (ii) Real estate and personal property taxes;

               (iii) Amounts under Operative Agreements to be assigned to and assumed by Purchaser, Purchaser’s property manager, lessee or designee;
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               (iv) Utility charges (including but not limited to charges for water, sewer and electricity);

               (v) License and permit fees, where transferable;

               (vi) Value of fuel stored on the Property at the price paid for such fuel by the Seller, including any taxes;

               (vii) All prepaid reservations and contracts for rooms confirmed by the Seller prior to the Closing Date for dates after the Closing Date, all of which
Purchaser shall honor;

               (viii) The Tray Ledger, which shall be divided equally between the parties; and

               (ix) All secured balances on the Guest Ledger which Purchaser will purchase at face amount subject to a three percent (3%) discount for any
balances secured by credit cards.

          (b) The Seller shall receive a credit for any prepaid expenses accruing to periods on or after the Closing Date. At Closing, the Seller shall sell to
Purchaser, and Purchaser shall purchase from the Seller, all petty cash funds located at the Property.

          (c) The Seller shall be required to pay all sales taxes, hotel occupancy taxes, and similar impositions through the date of Closing.

          (d) The Purchaser shall not be obligated to collect any accounts receivable or revenues accrued prior to the Closing Date on behalf of the Seller, but if
the Purchaser collects same, the Purchaser will promptly remit to the Seller such amounts in the form received.

          (e) If accurate allocations of any item cannot be made at Closing because current bills are not obtainable, the parties shall allocate such income or
expenses at Closing on the best available information, subject to adjustment upon receipt of the final bill or other evidence of the applicable income or
expense. Any income received or expense incurred by the Seller or the Purchaser with respect to the Property after the date of Closing shall be promptly
allocated in the manner described herein and the parties shall promptly pay or reimburse any amount due.

ARTICLE 7
CONDEMNATION; RISK OF LOSS

     7.1 Condemnation. In the event of any actual or threatened taking, pursuant to the power of eminent domain, of all or any portion of the Real Property, or
any proposed sale in lieu thereof, the Seller shall give written notice thereof to the Purchaser promptly after the Seller learns or receives notice thereof. If all
or any part of the Real Property which would
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materially interfere with the operation or use of the Hotel is, or is to be, so condemned or sold, the Purchaser shall have the right to terminate this Agreement
pursuant to Section 8.3. If the Purchaser elects not to terminate this Agreement, all proceeds, awards and other payments arising out of such condemnation or
sale (actual or threatened) shall be paid or assigned, as applicable, to the Purchaser at Closing.

     7.2 Risk of Loss. In the event of any fire or other casualty, the Seller shall give written notice thereof to the Purchaser promptly after the Seller learns or
receives notice thereof. If any such loss or damage occurs prior to Closing and is in excess of One Million and No/Dollars ($1,000,000.00) or would require
more than sixty (60) days to repair, the Purchaser shall have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.3. If the Purchaser elects not to
terminate this Agreement, all insurance proceeds and rights to proceeds arising out of such loss or damage shall be paid or assigned, as applicable, to the
Purchaser at Closing and Seller shall pay to Purchaser the amount of any deductible, under applicable insurance policies.

ARTICLE 8
LIABILITY OF PURCHASER; LIABILITY OF SELLER;

TERMINATION RIGHTS

     8.1 Liability of Purchaser and Seller. Except for any obligation expressly assumed or agreed to be assumed by the Purchaser hereunder, the Purchaser does
not assume any obligation of the Seller or any liability for claims arising out of any occurrence prior to Closing. The Seller shall not be responsible for any
obligation of the Purchaser or any liability for claims arising out of any occurrence on or after Closing.

     8.2 Indemnification.

          (a) Indemnification by Seller. The Seller covenants to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Purchaser and its affiliates, owners, employees, agents
and representatives, successors and assigns from and against any and all claims, penalties, liabilities, obligations, fines, losses, causes of action, fees, injuries,
damages, liens, proceedings, judgments, actions, rights, demands, costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and court and
litigation costs) arising prior to the Closing Date. This indemnity shall survive the Closing.

          (b) Indemnification by Purchaser. Purchaser covenants to defend, indemnify and hold harmless each Seller, and their respective affiliates, owners,
employees, agents and representatives, successors and assigns from and against any and all claims, penalties, liabilities, obligations, fines, losses, causes of
action, fees, injuries, damages, liens, proceedings, judgments, actions, rights, demands, costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable
attorneys’ fees and court and litigation costs) arising from and after the Closing Date. This indemnity shall survive the Closing.

     8.3 Termination by Purchaser. If the Seller materially defaults in performing any of its obligations under this Agreement (including its obligation to sell the
Property), and the Seller fails to cure any such matter within ten (10) business days after notice thereof from the
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Purchaser, the Purchaser, at its option, may elect either (a) to terminate this Agreement, in which event the Deposit shall be forthwith returned to the
Purchaser and all other rights and obligations of the Seller and the Purchaser hereunder shall terminate immediately (except those which expressly survive the
termination of this Agreement), or (b) to waive its right to terminate and, instead, to proceed to Closing.

     8.4 Termination by Seller. If the Purchaser materially defaults in performing any of its obligations under this Agreement (including its obligation to
purchase the Property), and the Purchaser fails to cure any such default within ten (10) business days after notice thereof from the Seller, then the Seller’s sole
remedy for such default shall be to terminate this Agreement and retain the Deposit. The Seller and the Purchaser agree that, in the event of such a default, the
damages that the Seller would sustain as a result thereof would be difficult if not impossible to ascertain. Therefore, the Seller and the Purchaser agree that the
Seller shall retain the Deposit as full and complete liquidated damages and as the Seller’ sole remedy.

ARTICLE 9
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

     9.1 Completeness; Modification. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the transactions contemplated
hereby and supersedes all prior discussions, understandings, agreements and negotiations between the parties hereto. This Agreement may be modified only
by a written instrument duly executed by the parties hereto.

     9.2 Assignments. The Purchaser may assign its rights hereunder without the consent of the Seller to any party under common control of the Purchaser. No
such assignment shall relieve the Purchaser of its obligations under this Agreement.

     9.3 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and bind the Purchaser and the Seller and their respective successors and assigns.

     9.4 Days. If any action is required to be performed, or if any notice, consent or other communication is given, on a day that is a Saturday or Sunday or a
legal holiday in the jurisdiction in which the action is required to be performed or in which is located the intended recipient of such notice, consent or other
communication, such performance shall be deemed to be required, and such notice, consent or other communication shall be deemed to be given, on the first
(1st) business day following such Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday. Unless otherwise specified herein, all references herein to a “day” or “days” shall refer to
calendar days and not business days.

     9.5 Governing Law. This Agreement and all documents referred to herein shall be governed by and construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws
of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

     9.6 Counterparts. To facilitate execution, this Agreement may be executed in as many counterparts as may be required. It shall not be necessary that the
signature on behalf
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of both parties hereto appear on each counterpart hereof. All counterparts hereof shall collectively constitute a single agreement.

     9.7 Severability. If any term, covenant or condition of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any person or circumstance, shall to any extent be
invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such term, covenant or condition to other persons or circumstances, shall not
be affected thereby, and each term, covenant or condition of this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.

     9.8 Costs. Regardless of whether Closing occurs hereunder, and except as otherwise expressly provided herein, each party hereto shall be responsible for
its own costs in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including without limitation fees of attorneys, engineers and
accountants.

     9.9 Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand, transmitted by
facsimile transmission, sent prepaid by Federal Express (or a comparable overnight delivery service) or sent by the United States mail, certified, postage
prepaid, return receipt requested, at the addresses and with such copies as designated below. Any notice, request, demand or other communication delivered
or sent in the manner aforesaid shall be deemed given or made (as the case may be) when actually delivered to the intended recipient.
   
If to the Seller:  Schenley Center Associates, L.P.
  Eleven Parkway Center
  Suite 300
  Pittsburgh, PA 15220
  Attn: Marc Kossman, Curtis Kossman, Lynnette Niro
  Fax: 412-921-0913
   
If to the Purchaser:  Chatham Lodging Trust
  50 Cocoanut Row
  Suite 211
  Palm Beach, Florida 33480
  Attn: Jeffrey H. Fisher
  Fax: (561) 659-7318
   
with a copy to:  Hunton & Williams
  1900 K Street, N.W.
  Washington, D.C. 20006
  Attn: John M. Ratino, Esq.
  Fax: (202) 778-2201

     Or to such other address as the intended recipient may have specified in a notice to the other party. Any party hereto may change its address or designate
different or other
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persons or entities to receive copies by notifying the other party in the manner described in this Section.

     9.10 Incorporation by Reference. All of the exhibits attached hereto are by this reference incorporated herein and made a part hereof.

     9.11 Survival. All of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of the Seller and the Purchaser made in, or pursuant to, this Agreement
shall survive for a period of one (1) year following Closing and shall not merge into any Deed or any other document or instrument executed and delivered in
connection herewith.

     9.12 Further Assurances. The Seller and the Purchaser each covenant and agree to sign, execute and deliver, or cause to be signed, executed and delivered,
and to do or make, or cause to be done or made, upon the written request of the other party, any and all agreements, instruments, papers, deeds, acts or things,
supplemental, confirmatory or otherwise, as may be reasonably required by either party hereto for the purpose of or in connection with consummating the
transactions described herein.

     9.13 No Partnership. This Agreement does not and shall not be construed to create a partnership, joint venture or any other relationship between the parties
hereto except the relationship of seller and purchaser specifically established hereby.

     9.14 Time of Essence. Time is of the essence with respect to every provision hereof.

     9.15 Confidentiality. The terms and provisions of this Agreement shall remain confidential and shall not be disclosed, by either the Purchaser or the Seller,
to any third (3rd) party other than: (a) as may be required by law or regulation or to comply with the filing requirements of any applicable legislation or rule;
or (b) any counsel, consultant, or agent assisting the Seller with the sale of the Property and any counsel, consultant, or agent assisting the Purchaser with the
purchase of the Property; or (c) by Purchaser in any filing with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. Prior to the issuance of any public statement
(including a press release) regarding the existence of this Agreement, the party making such statement shall provide written notice to the other party together
with a copy of the proposed statement, and the party issuing such statement will reasonably consider comments from the other party. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Seller acknowledges that the Purchaser will issue a press release following the execution of this Agreement announcing that the Purchaser has
executed an agreement to purchase an upscale, extended stay hotel in the Pittsburgh market; provided that such press release and any other announcements
made by the Purchaser regarding the existence of this Agreement shall not, prior to the deposit by the Purchaser of the Additional Deposit, include the name
of the Hotel or the Seller. If the Purchaser does not proceed with the purchase of the Property, following written request by the Seller, the Purchaser shall
return to the Seller all materials and information furnished to the Purchaser by the Seller or the Seller’s agents in connection with the Purchaser’s review of
the Property, together with copies of all third party reports relating to the Property that the Purchaser has had prepared (other than work product, proprietary
or confidential materials). The Purchaser acknowledges that the Seller may solicit additional
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offers for the purchase of the Property in the event that the Purchaser is unwilling or unable to consummate the Closing.

     9.16 No Third-Party Beneficiary. The provisions of this Agreement and of the documents to be executed and delivered at Closing are and will be for the
benefit of the Seller and the Purchaser only and are not for the benefit of any third (3rd) party, and accordingly, no third (3rd) party shall have the right to
enforce the provisions of this Agreement or of the documents to be executed and delivered at Closing.

     9.17 Waiver of Jury Trial. The Seller and the Purchaser each hereby waive any right to jury trial in connection with the enforcement by the Purchaser, or
the Seller, of any of their respective rights and remedies hereunder.

     9.18 Title Company.

          (a) The Title Company agrees to hold the Deposit in accordance with the terms hereof and to comply with additional written instructions from the
parties, to the extent that such instructions are not in conflict.

          (b) If the Title Company is uncertain for any reason whatsoever as to its duties or rights hereunder, the Title Company shall continue to hold the
Deposit until the Title Company receives a written agreement of both parties with respect to disposition of the Deposit, in which event Title Company shall
distribute the Deposit in accordance with such agreement; or in the event of litigation between or among the parties, the Title Company shall continue to hold
the Deposit until such time as the parties resolve their dispute or such dispute is resolved by judicial or other proceedings.

          (c) Acceptance by the Title Company of its duties under this Agreement is subject to the following terms and conditions:

               (i) The duties and obligations of the Title Company shall be determined solely by the provisions of this Agreement and any written instruction
from the parties consistent with this Agreement that are not in conflict, and the Title Company shall not be liable except for the performance of such duties
and obligations as are specifically set out in this Agreement or such instructions;

               (ii) The Seller and the Purchaser will jointly and severally reimburse and indemnify the Title Company for, and hold it harmless against any loss,
liability or expense, including but not limited to reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred without bad faith, negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the
Title Company, arising out of or in connection with any dispute or conflicting claim by the Seller or the Purchaser under this Agreement, as well as the
costs and expense of defending against any claim or liability arising out of or relating to this Agreement except where such claim or liability arises from
the bad faith, negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Title Company; as between the Seller (on the one hand) and the Purchaser (on the other
hand) their obligations under this subsection 9.18(c)(ii) shall be shared equally;
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               (iii) The Title Company shall be fully protected in acting on and relying upon any written notice, instruction, direction or other document which
the Title Company in good faith believes to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties;

               (iv) The Title Company may seek the advice of legal counsel in the event of any dispute or question as to the construction of any of the
provisions of this Agreement or its duties hereunder, and it shall incur no liability and shall be fully protected in respect of any action taken or suffered by
it in good faith in accordance with the opinion of such counsel;

               (v) The Title Company may resign and be discharged from its duties hereunder at any time by giving written notice of such resignation to each of
the Purchaser and the Seller specifying a date, not less than thirty (30) days after the date of such notice, when such resignation will take effect. Upon the
effective date of such resignation, the Title Company shall deliver the funds held in escrow to such person or persons as the Purchaser and the Seller shall
in writing jointly direct, and upon such delivery the Title Company shall be relieved of all duties and liabilities thereafter accruing under this Agreement.
The Purchaser and the Seller shall have the right at any time upon joint action to substitute a new Title Company by giving notice thereof to the Title
Company then acting;

               (vi) Nothing contained in this Agreement shall in any way affect the right of the Title Company to have at any time a judicial settlement of its
accounts as Title Company under this Agreement;

               (vii) All disbursements by Title Company shall be made by bank wire transfer to the account of the receiving party, as such party may direct;

               (viii) The Title Company shall, at the Closing, deliver by overnight express delivery (or hold for personal pickup, if requested), each non-
recorded document received hereunder by Title Company to the payee or person acquiring rights under said document or for whose benefit said document
was acquired; and

               (ix) The Title Company shall, at the Closing, hold for personal pickup or arrange for wire transfer, (i) to Seller, or order, as instructed by Seller,
all sums and any proration or other credits to which Seller is entitled and less any appropriate proration or other charges, and (ii) to Purchaser, or order, any
excess funds theretofore delivered to Title Company by Purchaser and all sums and any proration or other credits to which Purchaser is entitled and less
any appropriate proration or other charges.

          9.19 Tax Deferred Exchange. Each party acknowledges having been advised that the other party will or may elect to treat the within transaction as part
of a tax-deferred exchange transaction under Internal Revenue Code Section 1031. Each party agrees that they will make and execute any and all additional
documents that may reasonably be required in connection with the tax-deferred exchange transaction and will otherwise fully cooperate with each other and
with any Qualified Intermediary designated by either party provided that
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neither party shall thereby assume any additional burdens or obligations and further provided that neither party shall incur any additional cost or expense.

     9.20 Future Conveyance Parcel. The parties acknowledge that Seller desires to cause the future transfer and conveyance (the “Future Conveyance”), at
Seller’s sole cost and expense, of a certain parcel of land (the “Future Conveyance Parcel”) in the northeasterly portion of the real estate upon which the
Condominium is situated to Schenley Center Developers, L.P. The Future Conveyance Parcel is depicted on Exhibit “H” attached hereto. Purchaser covenants
and agrees, following reasonable prior notice by Seller, to reasonably cooperate, at no cost to Purchaser, with Seller in connection with Seller’s efforts to
consummate the Future Conveyance, including but not limited to entering into an Agreement of Sale and such ancillary documents which will provide and
accomplish the following, inter alia:

          (a) the transferee will be Schenley Center Developers, L.P. or its designee owned or controlled by Marc Kossman and/or Curtis Kossman or their
immediate families.

          (b) the Future Conveyance Parcel will contain approximately 0.6 acres.

          (c) the Future Conveyance Parcel will be subdivided from the land owned by the Condominium Association.

          (d) the purchase price shall be One ($1.00) Dollar and other good and valuable consideration.

          (e) transferee will be responsible for the payment of all costs of the Future Conveyance including but not limited to Purchaser’s reasonable attorneys’
fees incurred in connection the Future Conveyance and all Pennsylvania Realty Transfer taxes; there shall be no proration of real estate taxes at settlement.

          (f) obtaining consent or release as necessary, from any mortgagee, encumbrance holder or other lien holder so as to grant free and clear title to
transferee.

          (g) on or before Closing, Seller and/or transferee, as applicable, shall execute and deliver to Purchaser an instrument in form and substance acceptable
to Purchaser (and such instrument will be recorded among the land records contemporaneous with the recording of the Deed) that prohibits the use or
development by Seller and transferee of the Future Conveyance Parcel and any adjacent land owned by Seller or transferee as a business or businesses that (i)
operate a motel, hotel or guest quarters; (ii) create strong, unusual or offensive odors, fumes, dust or vapors; (iii) are a public or private nuisance; (iv) emit
noise or sounds that are objectionable due to intermittence, beat, frequency, shrillness or loudness; (v) are used in whole or in part, for the warehousing,
dumping or disposing of garbage or refuse; (vi) sell indecent or pornographic literature or provide adult entertainment or any other form of sexually oriented
business; or (vii) operate gasoline refining and/or twenty-four (24) hour manufacturing operations.

          (h) transferee will not request or demand any right to park vehicles on transferor’s property.
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          (i) the Declaration of Condominium and such other Condominium Documents will be amended accordingly.

          (j) Purchaser will not object to any zoning change, variance, special exception, conditional use or other governmental procedure that transferee may
require to develop the Future Conveyance Parcel or adjacent land unless Purchaser reasonably believes that such zoning change, variance, special exception,
conditional use or other governmental procedure will violate the prohibitions listed in Section 9.20(g) or fail to comply with all applicable laws as detailed in
Section 9.20(l).

          (k) settlement of the conveyance to transferee shall not be a condition to Seller’s obligation to proceed to Closing of this Agreement and may occur
after the Closing Date under this Agreement.

          (l) Purchaser shall have no obligation to consummate the Future Conveyance unless and until Purchaser, in its reasonable business judgment, had
determined that the Future Conveyance complies with all applicable laws and that all consents and approvals required in connection with the Future
Conveyance have been obtained.

     The agreements and covenants herein will survive the Closing Date under this Agreement.

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]
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     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Seller and the Purchaser have caused this Agreement to be executed in their names by their respective duly-authorized
representatives.
     
 SELLER:

SCHENLEY CENTER ASSOCIATES, L.P. , A
PENNSYLVANIA LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

BY SCHENLEY CENTER, INC., GENERAL PARTNER

 

 

 By:    
  Name:    
  Title:    
 
 PURCHASER:

CHATHAM LODGING TRUST, A MARYLAND REAL ESTATE

INVESTMENT TRUST

 

 

 By:    
  Name:  Jeffrey H. Fisher  
  Title:  President  
 

[PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE]

 



 

     Title Company executes this Agreement below solely for the purpose of acknowledging that it agrees to be bound by the provisions of this Agreement
relating to Title Company and the holding and disbursement of the Deposit.
     
 TITLE COMPANY:

  

 By:    
  Name:    
  Title:    
 

[PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE]

 



 

EXHIBIT A

SELLER AND PROPERTY
     

Seller  Site Name  Location
SCHENLEY CENTER ASSOCIATES, L.P., A
PENNSYLVANIA LIMITED PARTNERSHIP  

Residence Inn by Marriott
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania  

3896 Bigelow Boulevard
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15213
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EXHIBIT B

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS OF THE REAL PROPERTY

See attached.
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EXHIBIT C

DUE DILIGENCE CHECKLIST

See attached.

C-1



 

EXHIBIT D

INSURANCE POLICIES

To be delivered by Seller within three (3) business days following the date of this Agreement.
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EXHIBIT E

OPERATIVE AGREEMENTS

To be delivered by Seller within three (3) business days following the date of this Agreement.
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EXHIBIT F

EXISTING WARRANTIES AND GUARANTIES

To be delivered by Seller within three (3) business days following the date of this Agreement.
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EXHIBIT G

ASSUMED LOAN
   

Lender  Loan Description
Principal Commercial 
Funding, LLC

 

Loan memorialized by that certain Mortgage Note in the original principal sum of $9,000,000
dated effective as of August 16, 2006 originally given by Schenley Center Associates LP
(“Original Borrower”) for the benefit of Principal Commercial Funding, LLC (“Original
Lender”) and secured by that certain Mortgage and Security Agreement, Assignment of Leases
and Rents, and UCC Filings dated even therewith by Original Borrower for Original Lender
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EXHIBIT H

FUTURE CONVEYANCE PARCEL

See attached.
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EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Jeffrey H. Fisher, certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Chatham Lodging Trust;
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and material control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

 a.  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 b.  Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 c.  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by the report based on such evaluation; and

 

 d.  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of trustees (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 a.  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

     
  CHATHAM LODGING TRUST   
     
Dated: May 10, 2011

 
/s/ JEFFREY H. FISHER
 

Jeffrey H. Fisher  
 

  Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

 



EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Dennis M. Craven, certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Chatham Lodging Trust;
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and material control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
same as on previous exhibit for the registrant and have:

 a.  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 b.  Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 c.  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by the report based on such evaluation; and

 

 d.  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of trustees (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 a.  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

     
  CHATHAM LODGING TRUST   
     
Dated: May 10, 2011

 
/s/ DENNIS M. CRAVEN
 

Dennis M. Craven  
 

  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

 



EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification Pursuant To
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Chatham Lodging Trust (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2011 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jeffrey H. Fisher, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company and I, Dennis M. Craven, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, to our knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1)  the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
 

(2)  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
     
  CHATHAM LODGING TRUST   
     
Dated: May 10, 2011

 
/s/ JEFFREY H. FISHER
 

Jeffrey H. Fisher  
 

  Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
     
 

 
/s/ DENNIS M. CRAVEN
 

Dennis M. Craven  
 

  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

 


